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VISION OF THE MDB
The Board’s vision is to be “the leading demarcation and spatial knowledge hub”.  

MISSION OF THE MDB
To produce municipal and ward boundaries that are functional, beyond reproach and contribute towards 
a responsive spatial configuration, including municipal capacity assessments that lay the foundation for a 
developmental local government. 

VALUES OF THE MDB
• Independence

• Fairness, transparency and integrity

• Stakeholder engagement

• Knowledge sharing

• Good governance

“A fundamental concern for others in our 
individual and community lives would go a 
long way in making the world the better 
place we so passionately dreamt of.”

– Nelson Mandela, 6th Annual Lecture
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Registered Name The Municipal Demarcation Board

Registered Address

Eco Origins Office Park, Block C1
349 Witch-Hazel Street
Centurion
0157

Postal Address

Private Bag x123
Centurion
0046
South Africa

Telephone  +27 12 342 2481

Facsimile  +27 12 342 2480

Website www.demarcation.org.za 

External Auditors Auditor-General South Africa

Bankers ABSA Bank Limited 

Head:  Legal & Secretariat Unit Ms Regina Masesi Koto

The 2014/15 MDB Annual Report is also available on www.demarcation.org.za

1. ADMINISTRATION AND CORPORATE INFORMATION
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2. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS 

AGSA Auditor-General South Africa

AFS Annual Financial Statements

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

COGTA Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs

HTL House of Traditional Leaders

IEC Independent Electoral Commission

MDB Municipal Demarcation Board (the Board)

MEC Member of Executive Council

MTEF Medium-Term Expenditure Framework

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

PLC Party Liaison Committee

SALGA South African Local Government Association

SCM Supply Chain Management

TR Treasury Regulations
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2. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS 3. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

VISION 

The Board’s vision is to be “the leading demarcation and spatial knowledge hub”.  

MISSION 

To produce municipal and ward boundaries that are functional, beyond reproach and contribute towards a responsive 
spatial configuration, including municipal capacity assessments that lay the foundation for a developmental local 
government. 

VALUES 

• Independence

• Fairness, transparency and integrity

• Stakeholder engagement

• Knowledge sharing

• Good governance

STRATEGIC OUTCOME-ORIENTED GOALS (2014/15)

• Delimitation of municipal ward boundaries for local elections.

• Assessment of the capacity of metropolitan, district and local municipalities.

• Re-determination of municipal outer boundaries. 

• Render advisory services in respect of demarcation matters.

• An efficient and effective organisation.

• Optimal performance and service-focused culture.

• Continuous compliance with relevant legislative and regulatory requirements.

• Enhancement of stakeholder relations and communication.
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4. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES

LOCAL GOVERNMENT:  MUNICIPAL 
DEMARCATION ACT, 1998 (ACT NO 27 OF 1998)

• Section 3 provides that the Board is a juristic person, 
is independent, must be impartial and must perform 
its function without fear, favour or prejudice.  

• Section 4 provides that the Board must determine 
municipal boundaries in accordance with this Act 
and other appropriate legislation enacted in terms 
of Chapter 7 of the Constitution, and must render an 
advisory service in respect of matters provided for in 
this Act and other appropriate legislation.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT:  MUNICIPAL 
STRUCTURES ACT, 1998 (ACT NO 108 OF 1998)

• Delimit wards in compliance with Schedule 1 of the 
Act.

• In terms of section 85, the Board must consider 
the capacity of district and local municipalities to 
perform their function and to exercise their powers, 
and provide advice to Members of the Executive 
Council (MECs) responsible for local government. 

• Section 6 empowers the Board to declare district 
management areas, and to withdraw such 
declarations.  

CABINET RESOLUTIONS

• In 1998, Cabinet resolved that departmental service 
delivery boundaries must be aligned to constitutional 
boundaries (national, provincial and local) and should 
be finalised by departments in consultation with the 
Municipal Demarcation Board.  

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE REPUBLIC OF 
SOUTH AFRICA, 1996 (ACT NO 108 OF 1996)

• The Board is mandated in terms of sections 155(3)
(b) and 157(4)(a) to determine municipal boundaries, 
and to delimit wards independently.  

POLICY MANDATES

• Assistance to government departments in aligning 
their service delivery boundaries to municipal 
boundaries.  

COURT RULINGS

• Although there have been several court rulings with 
respect to the decisions of the Board, none of these 
rulings have had any impact on operations or service 
delivery obligations.  

REFERENCE TO THE RELEVANT LEGISLATION 
AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE BOARD’S 
OPERATIONS

The following legislation and regulations are applicable:

• Local Government: Municipal Demarcation Act No 27 
of 1998, as amended

• Local Government:  Municipal Structures Act No 117 
of 1998

• Local Government: Municipal Systems Act No 32 of 
2000

• Generally Recognised Accepted Practice

• Income Tax Act No 58 of 1962

• Value-Added Tax Act No 89 of 1991

• Public Finance Management Act No 1 of 1999, as 
amended

• Treasury Regulations, March 2005, issued in terms of 
the Public Finance Management Act

• Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act No 5 
of 2000

• All practice notes on Supply Chain Management Act

• Employment Equity Act No 55 of 1998

• Basic Conditions of Employment Act No 75 of 1997

• Labour Relations Act No 88 of 1998

• Promotion of Administrative Justice Act No 1 of 2000

• Promotion of Access to Information Act No 2 of 2000

NAME OF CONTROLLING ENTITY

The Municipal Demarcation Board is an independent 
institution and is accountable to Parliament.
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4. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES

CHAIRPERSON:   
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As we close a chapter that marks the end of the Board’s 
first year of its five-year term of office, it gives me great 
pleasure to present the 2014/15 Annual Report, taking 
into account the good work that has been achieved in 
spite of the challenges.  The Board continued to entrench 
its role at the forefront of spatial transformation in South 
Africa’s efforts to defeat apartheid’s spatial reasoning and 
bring about spatial justice.

We managed during the year under review to realign the 
organization’s vision and chart a new path that better 
informs efficient execution of our mandate. It was on 
this commitment that the organisational strategy was 
developed and approved by Parliament, making sure the 
Board’s spatial transformation agenda resonates at the 
highest level. The strategy, to a great extent, hinges on the 
relationships we have with our stakeholders, the public 
being central. We have succeeded not only in nurturing 
and maintaining these relations but have established new 
ones with the continued aim of addressing and, indeed, 
redressing the socio-economic disparities and social 
disintegration that are spatially engineered. 

Through the support of our key stakeholders, comprised 
of the South African public at large and including 
municipalities across the nine provinces, various 

government departments and other constitutional 
institutions, the Board has managed to implement its 
mandate while holding in high esteem its independence 
and integrity.  Key milestones include the launch of the 
ward delimitation public consultation process, which took 
place on 9 December 2014 in the Ugu Municipality (KZN). 
More than 400 municipal delegates and an estimated 
1000 community members attended the event. Special 
appreciation goes to Statistics South Africa, for having 
made resources available to close capacity gaps within 
the MDB during the drafting of ward maps and public 
consultation process between January and March.

The formula for determining the number of councillors 
was published in September 2014, paving a way for the 
Municipal Demarcation Board (MDB) to initiate the ward 
delimitation process, and allowing us to once more to play 
a critical role in constitutional democracy as the country 
prepares for the 2016 local elections. This was the first 
time the formula had been changed since the Board was 
established and we feel honoured to have made a major 
contribution by first raising the alarm about the possible 
implications on ward delimitation – if the formula had 
stayed unchanged.

CHAIRPERSON
MS JANE THUPANA
CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD

6. FOREWORD BY THE 
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The public consultation process, which took place 
from January to April 2015 in all municipalities across 
the country, afforded the organisation the welcome 
opportunity to interact with the public. It was indeed a 
rewarding and humbling experience to observe how 
the public ultimately understood the ward delimitation 
criteria and procedures, which enabled them to play a 
central role in crafting their wards.

The Board also experienced another ‘first’ when, for the 
first time since the organization was establishment, the 
Minister of Cooperative Governance and Traditional 
Affairs evoked his right, in terms of Section 22(2) of 
the Local Government: Municipal Demarcation Act, 
1998 (Act No. 27 of 1998), and requested the Board to 
consider redetermination of the boundaries of certain 
municipalities, with the view of making them more 
sustainable and financially viable.  The Board appreciates 
the interest expressed by the public, signified by the 
number of written representations on views regarding 
the Minister’s proposals.

Some challenges towards the end of the reporting period 
have been the violent protests following release of the 
Malamulele study, through which the Board announced 
that the community’s long-anticipated municipality did 
not meet the demarcation criteria and was therefore not 
feasible. Notwithstanding the outcome, the Board remains 
indebted to the Malamulele community for the lessons 
learned through this seminal case that served before each 
of the four terms of the Board. These will go a long way 
in transformation of the local government sector broadly, 

as well as strategic re-alignment of the MDB’s   processes 
specifically. It is appreciated that the community has 
finally come on board, together with the rest of the 
public in all provinces and municipalities affected by 
the Minister’s proposal, to engage on a process towards 
crafting sustainable and financially viable municipalities.

Developments in the year under review undoubtedly 
tested the resilience and determination of MDB staff, 
whose responsibility it was to carry out the tasks that 
would ensure the conclusion of the outer boundary re-
determination and the handing over of the final wards 
to the Independent Electoral Commission (IEC) in good 
time, to enable the latter to prepare for the 2016 local 
government elections.

Many lessons have been learned this past year and I am 
confident that all those have become an investment in 
the shaping of a democratic and developmental local 
government. I am greatly honoured to lead this incredible 
organisation, supported by a dynamic Board, without 
which we certainly could not have accomplished much. 

Ms Jane Thupana
Chairperson
Municipal Demarcation Board
31 July 2015

“We have succeeded not only in nurturing and maintaining these relations but have 
established new ones with the continued aim of addressing and, indeed, 

redressing the socio-economic disparities and social disintegration 
that are spatially engineered.”
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I am humbled to have been afforded the opportunity to 
contribute to transformation, as well as to the broadening 
and deepening of the 21st year of the democratic process 
taking place in South Africa. 

This Annual Report reflects on the performance of the 
Municipal Demarcation Board (“the Board”), against pre-
determined objectives, as well as on achievements obtained 
and challenges encountered by the Board during the period 
under review. The report contains a summary of the Board’s 
strategic priorities and objectives for this period.

This document also provides details on the financial 
statements and an oversight report, as required in terms of 
the Local Government Municipal Demarcation Act, 1998 
(Act No. 27 of 1998) and the Public Finance Management 
Act, 1999 (Act No. 1) (as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999), as 
well as other statutes and regulations. 

ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE BOARD

The Board was dedicated and consistent in pursuing its 
constitutional mandate in terms of the Local Government: 
Municipal Demarcation Act, 1998 (Act No. 27 of 1998), as well 
as the Local Government Municipal Structures Act, 1998 (Act 
No. 118 of 1998). 

The emphasis during the period under review was on the 
following issues:

Ward delimitation

In terms of MDB time-frames, the years 2013 to 2015 were 
set aside for the delimitation of wards within established 
outer municipal boundaries in preparation for the 
2016 local government elections. The outer municipal 
boundaries’ redetermination was finalised in 2013. In the 
ward delimitation, the Board embarked on an awareness 
campaign in order to inform stakeholders and communities 
of the importance of the ward delimitation process and the 
need for their participation, in order to guide decisions of the 
Board. This was the first time that the Board had approached 
the ward delimitation process in this manner.

Awareness campaigns and the involvement of stakeholders

Following the successful awareness campaign, the Board 
sought the comprehensive participation of municipalities, 
by involving them in the organisation of public meetings 
and venues. Because of their local knowledge and skills in 
areas such as GIS, the technical staff within the municipalities, 
worked with the Board during the technical mapping 
sessions, in order to ensure credible draft ward maps. This is 
also a first in the history of the organisation. 

OVERVIEW
MR ALUWANI RAMAGADZA
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

7. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S



Municipal Demarcation Board  Annual Report 2015 13

7. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

Launch of the ward delimitation and public consultation process

In order to further strengthen stakeholder participation and 
deepen communication, the Board invited all stakeholders 
to converge at the Ugu District Municipality to launch the 
ward delimitation process and communicate on how the 
process would proceed. The Board had also requested 
municipalities to conduct prior consultations before the 
Board embarked on public meetings and consultations.  
While this is not a legal requirement, the Board sought to 
deepen its participation in this round for the first time since 
its formation.

Minister’s Section 22 request     

For the first time since the formation of the Board, the 
Minister of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs 
invoked Section 22(2) of the Local Government: Municipal 
Demarcation Act, 1998 (Act No. 27 of 1998), requesting 
the Board to reopen the determination of specific outer 
boundaries of municipalities. 

The processes involved in the determination of outer 
boundaries put tremendous pressure on the Board to 
maintain the timelines it had committed to in areas where 
other stakeholders were involved. Nevertheless, owing to 
the established stakeholder platforms and consolidated 
relationships, the MDB is currently well on track to meet the 
set deadlines.

CHALLENGES   

The period under review was characterised by a number of 
challenges. It was a year of change and reassessment with 
regard to the Board’s strategy. 

In the context of the ward delimitation process, the first 

challenge that confronted the MDB was the delayed 
publishing of the formula – resulting in the delayed 
publication of the number of councillors by MECs. This put 
pressure on the Board’s limited resources (financial and 
human) by exposing it to various challenges.

However, there was far more on the table than merely 
ward delimitation issues. The MDB had to also face an 
environment characterised by litigation emanating from 
previous decisions. The litigations hampered progress to a 
certain extent, as it consumed valuable time. The MDB could 
not proceed with the ward delimitation process for the new 
Midvaal/Emfuleni Metropolitan Municipality.

The MDB is a very small organisation with a small staff 
complement. The organisational structure is not only too 
small to optimally execute the Board’s mandate, but the ratio 
is skewed in favour of support staff. Only 36% of the total staff 
component comprises specialists and technical personnel 
responsible for the two programmes that drive the core 
mandate. The MDB currently only has seven specialists to 
fulfil its objectives. This has resulted in stretched capacity and 
slow response time.

There is a lack of capacity within the Finance Division with 
regards to the minimum or prescribed functions (National 
Treasury) within a functional finance structure. Areas 
that are currently not catered for include internal control 
and compliance as well as strategic management. The 
Competency Framework for Public Financial Management 
further stipulates nine functional areas. The lack of capacity 
in many of these areas has a negative impact on the 
organisation’s level of compliance to PFMA, Governance, 
Internal Control and Supply Chain Management 
requirements.

The institution was dependent on outsourcing its research 
activities due to a lack of capacity within its core units. To 
address this gap, a recruitment drive commenced in 2014/15 
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to capacitate the research sub-programme with at least two 
researchers and a Head. A Head of Research was appointed 
in January 2015 and two Research Specialist positions will be 
filled in due course.

This process will strengthen the organisation’s research and 
knowledge management capacity, in order to ensure that 
there is solid research to back up the Board’s decisions. 

A common cause for conducting capacity assessments 
needs to be charted. There is a need for engagement with all 
role players to understand the nature and objectives of the 
assessments and understand if they still meet the needs of 
the local government system. 

The report of the Auditor-General on the year under review 
has highlighted a number of areas requiring our attention. 
The Auditor-General has also made several findings 
identifying several challenges with the Supply Chain 
Processes. The MDB administration takes full responsibility of 
all the findings of the Auditor-General and these issues are 
given serious attention. To demonstrate that and in a bid to 
improve and avoid any of these matters recurring, measures 
are being put in place to address all the shortcomings.

HIGHLIGHTS PERTAINING TO FUTURE PLANS 
AND ACTIONS

The Municipal Demarcation Board crafted its five year 
strategy during the period under review according to the 
valuable insight, knowledge and practical experience gained.

Key business strategies to address challenges include:

• Completion of the Section 22 request from the Minister 
of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs;  

• Planning and implementation of the wards for local 
and metropolitan municipalities for the 2016 municipal 
elections;

• Review and updating of the MDB’s repository of spatial 
and demarcation data and the effectiveness of its 
knowledge management;

• The advisor on the adjustment of powers and functions 
between category B and category C municipalities, 
particularly with regards to whether municipalities 
have the capability to perform allocated powers and 
functions;

• To engage in effective technical consultations;

• To improve the marketing, communications and brand 
awareness of the MDB;

• To develop a communications strategy that increases 
awareness and understanding of all sectors of South 
Africa’s population on the MDB’s role and services;

• To monitor the effectiveness of boundary 
redeterminations and to make the final decision;

• To propose changes to legislation relating to the 
consolidation of the various mandates of the MDB into 
one piece of legislation, to propose regulations in terms 
of the Municipal Demarcation Act, and to change the 
period between demarcations;

• To conduct an organisational review so that the MDB 
has an optimal structure including internal capabilities 
are supportive of its strategy;

• Develop a continuous coaching, development and 
performance improvement framework; and

• Develop a remuneration strategy and framework.

APPRECIATION

The satisfactory performance results, achieved during the 
period under review, would not have been possible without 
the support, oversight, and  leadership of past and present 
members of the Board. 

I also wish to express my gratitude to all Municipal 
Demarcation Board employees, whose dedication and 
determination made it possible to serve our country and 
contribute towards our vision of a sustainable system of local 
government.   

Mr Aluwani Ramagadza
Acting Chief Executive Officer
MUNICIPAL DEMARCATION BOARD
31 July 2015
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PART B

REPORT ON WARD DELIMITATION 
AND MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY 
DETERMINATIONS
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1. WARD DELIMITATION 2014/15

1.1 Introduction

During the 2014/15 financial year, the Municipal 
Demarcation Board (hereinafter referred to as the Board) 
embarked on the ward delimitation process in preparation 
for the 2016 local government elections. According to 
Schedule 1(2) of the Municipal Structures Act (No 117 of 
1998) the Board, after consultation with the Independent 
Electoral Commission (IEC) for purposes of an election, 
must delimit all metropolitan municipalities and local 
municipalities – that must have wards – into wards. As a 
result, a considerable part of the year under review was 
dedicated to delimiting wards in all 224 municipalities 
that qualified to have wards.

The Operations and Research Division spent the first 
quarter of the year preparing the ground for the ward 
delimitation work that lay ahead. It held meetings with 
key stakeholders, such as the IEC, to discuss the release of 
a certified voters’ roll, including the number of voters per 
municipal segment. The number of voters per municipal 
segment provides primary data to determine the number 
of councillors in each municipality. This is consequently 
used to calculate the number of wards (i.e., number of 
councillors divided by 2) per municipality. Thereafter the 
Board delimits the wards in each municipality. The IEC 
released the requisite certified voters’ roll on 05 March 
2014 to start the ward delimitation process. The next 
critical step required that the Minister of Cooperative 
Governance and Traditional Affairs (COGTA) publish a 
set of formulae to determine the number of councillors 
in each municipality. Although the Board expected the 
publication of the formulae in the first quarter of the 
financial year, in accordance with the project schedule, 
the formulae were published only towards the end of the 
second quarter, in September 2014. 

After the publication of the formulae to determine the 
number of councillors, the Operations and Research 
Division began the intense process of creating the first 
draft of wards. To incorporate local knowledge, this 
first draft was created with the assistance of planners 
and geographic information officials in each of the 
municipalities, who imparted their invaluable experience 
of the terrain, road networks, land use and other factors 
important in the creation of wards. The resultant draft 
wards were unveiled and released to the public during the 
Ward Delimitation Process Launch held on 09 December 
2014 in Ugu District Municipality, KwaZulu-Natal Province 

The diagram below summarises the ward delimitation 
process after the completion of the redeterminations 
process, beginning with publication of the formulae for 
determination of the number of councillors, preparation 
of draft wards, public consultations and participation 
through the finalisation of wards and handover to the IEC.

During the first quarter of 2014/15 the Operations and 
Research Division analysed the effect of the February 2014 
National Common Voters Roll, released by the IEC, on the 
number of councillors determined by using the existing 
formulae. At the time, the Minister of COGTA had not yet 
released the new formulae for determining the number 
of wards. The rationale for the analysis was to determine 
whether the number of councillors in municipalities would 
increase, thus implying that the Municipal Demarcation 
Board may have to delimit more wards should the number 
of councillors increase significantly.

1.2 Preliminary analysis of ward delimitation after the release of 
national common voters roll

The analysis indicated that the number of voters in all 
provinces of South Africa had increased. The percentage 
change in numbers of voters showed exponential 
growth in KwaZulu-Natal (17%), Western Cape (12%), 
Mpumalanga (10%), and Gauteng (10%); with moderate 
increases in Northern Cape (8%), Limpopo (8%), North 
West (7%), Eastern Cape (6%) and Free State (4%). The 
implication of the increase in the number of voters in 
each segment of municipality was that the number of 
councillors in each municipality might increase if the 
present (Minister’s) formulae for the determination of 
the number of councillors was maintained. The increase 
in the number of councillors might result in an increase 
in the number of wards. Consequently, an increase in the 
number of wards in any municipality results in an overall 
change in ward boundaries for most (if not all) wards in a 
particular municipality.  
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ISSUE DESCRIPTION

1. Public participation and consultation
To address a lack of information on ward delimitation at local level, the Board must work towards having a local 
presence and use the different stakeholder forums to disseminate information. Different communication methods such 
as radio, newspapers or notices at community centres were suggested as effective in communicating at local level. 

2. Ward delimitation process on continuous 
basis

The five-year cycle of the ward delimitation process at times gives people the impression that they should start 
working on ward delimitation issues only when the Board opens the process every five years. Municipalities can, 
however, be encouraged to make outer boundary and ward delimitation issues a continuous event in their calendar 
so when the time arrives for submitting their proposals, these are well-informed to make valuable contributions.

3. Legislative issues

The legislation requires voter registration numbers only as the basis for determining the number of councillors. 
Most delegates felt this was a narrow approach since the number of voters did not denote the number of 
households/people requiring municipal services. For instance, a municipality may have a low voter registration 
number due to lack of interest in the voting process, but high population numbers. However, the formula would 
still determine fewer councillors or wards.

4. Cross-boundary issues and poorly 
configured wards

Most delegates raised issues associated with unresolved provincial and municipal cross-boundary disputes. 
Although these issues cannot be resolved during the ward delimitation process, the delegates suggested that a 
committee be established to deal solely with these issues as they affect the livelihood of residents in the areas. 

Examples included instances where people were denied access to facilities (e.g. hospitals, courts, schools) which 
were closer to their homes, but their communities straddled different provinces or municipalities. 

It was evident from the analysis that wards were likely 
to be increased in most cases where voter number had 
increased. The increase in the number of councillors/
wards in municipalities implied additional resources 
(e.g. personnel, finances) would be needed. The cost 
of adding more councillors to municipalities had to be 
taken into consideration when determining the number 
of councillors, as this would strain financial capacity and 
ultimately impact municipalities’ ability to provide services 
to their residents. 

1.3 Public and stakeholder engagements

1.3 .1 Provincial stakeholder information sessions

In view of the technical nature of the ward delimitation 
process, the MDB initiated an awareness campaign. This 
campaign was conducted in the form of information 
sharing sessions. The purpose was, amongst others, to 
create awareness and empower stakeholders about the 
ward delimitation process. It began with the national 
stakeholder’s workshop which took place in the previous 
review period. The next level involved MDB stakeholders 
at a provincial level.

The provincial stakeholders represented in the information 
sharing sessions were provincial departments of COGTA, 

Provincial House of Traditional Leaders (HTL), the IEC and 
the South African Local Government Association (SALGA) 
provincial chapters. The information sharing sessions at 
this level proved to be important as these organisations 
have the pulse on local governance issues in their 
respective provinces. Provincial information sharing 
sessions were held in the provinces of Limpopo, Western 
Cape, Mpumalanga, Free State, North West, Eastern Cape, 
Northern Cape and Gauteng. KwaZulu-Natal was excluded 
as the MEC asked to postpone the information sharing 
session to a date after the national general elections.

While a generic presentation was prepared for the 
information sharing sessions, the meetings were not 
restricted to issues raised by the presentation. Delegates 
were invited to critique the ward delimitation process 
and gaps identified in the legislation. Additionally, in each 
session strategies for encouraging public participation 
and consultation were discussed, and guidance was given 
to the Board on platforms and forums that could be used 
at local level to distribute information to the public.

These sessions were well received by stakeholders as most 
were not conversant with the ward delimitation process, 
while others felt they should be more involved in ward 
delimitation activities. 

The table below provides information on issues raised 
during the provincial information sessions.
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ISSUE DESCRIPTION

5. Post-delimitation engagements and 
feedback

Some delegates suggested a need for a mechanism to deal with issues that arise after wards have been delimited 
where people aggrieved by decisions can have their grievances addressed.

The Board was asked to give feedback to local communities and municipalities when proposals were rejected or 
withdrawn. The responses should include reasons for rejections, so communities will know what is expected of 
them in the future.

6. Non-contiguous wards and unidentified 
ward boundaries

Wards should be contiguous and not straddle physical features such as mountains, rivers, game reserves or other 
features. There was a need for physical features to define ward boundaries, to help communities know how far their 
wards extended and to make it easier when services were rendered.

1.3.2 District wide technical sessions for the first draft of wards

During October and November 2014 the Operations 
and Research Division undertook the mapping of the 
first draft of ward boundaries. This was a participatory 
process in which the municipalities’ technical staff – 
planners, GIS officials and others knowledgeable about 
the layout of the municipality – were invited to make 
contributions. These were regarded as technical sessions 
since they emphasised the technical considerations in 
ward delimitation criteria, in terms of Schedule 1(4) of the 
Municipal Structures Act (117 of 1998). 

These criteria include compliance to the norm, 
topography and physical characteristics, accessibility 
(i.e. road networks), identifiable ward boundaries and 
avoiding fragmentation of existing communities. 

The figure below shows the number of draft wards 
delimited per province as prepared before the 
Board received requests for municipal boundary re-
determinations in terms of Section 22, with KwaZulu-
Natal and Eastern Cape provinces having a sizable portion 
of the delimited 4369 wards. 

DRAFT WARDS FOR 2016
PROVINCE NUMBER OF WARDS

Eastern Cape 707
Free State 312
Gauteng 509
KwaZulu-Natal 870
Limpopo 552
Mpumalanga 403
Northern Cape 407
North West 207
Western Cape 402
TOTAL 4369

The resultant wards were presented in the form of overview maps (i.e., A0 maps showing the extent of each municipality 
and wards within it), detailed maps (i.e., A4 maps showing the extent of each individual ward with other features in it), 
and ward schedules (i.e., tables indicating the voting districts and number of voters in each ward).
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1.3.3 Launch of the nationwide ward delimitation consultation 
process

The Operations and Research Division prepared 
information packs for distribution to all municipalities 
at the launch of the nationwide ward delimitation 
consultation process on 09 December 2014 in Ugu 
District Municipality, KwaZulu-Natal. Officials from all 
224 metropolitan and local municipalities qualifying 
to have wards were invited, together with stakeholders 
in local government, including COGTA, IEC, SALGA, 
National and Provincial Houses of Traditional Leaders, 
as well as and surrounding communities. 

The information packs consisted of draft wards maps, 
the criteria for drafting the wards and the schedule 
of public consultation meetings due to commence 
in January 2015. All were encouraged to use the draft 
wards as a basis for pre-consultation discussions in 
their communities.

1.3.4 Public consultation meetings on ward delimitation

In terms of the Municipal Structures Act, the Board 
can determine wards and publish in provincial 
Gazettes and only allow members of the public 14 
days to submit objections. In a bid to enhance public 
participation, the MDB decided to expand the public 
consultation process by providing an opportunity 
for members of the public to engage and influence 
the ward delimitation process prior to the Board’s 
determination.

The Board arranged and held its public consultation 
meetings, from mid-January 2015 to early-March 
2015. The due date for written ward submissions from 
communities was 23 March 2015. 

Wards were to be delimited in all 224 municipalities 
that qualified to have wards.  The table below reflects 
those municipalities that qualified, according to 
redeterminations completed in 2013, for wards in each 
province. KwaZulu-Natal had the highest number of 
municipalities (44), followed by the Eastern Cape (39). 
Gauteng has the lowest (7).

A total of 224 ward delimitation public consultation 
meetings were scheduled across the country. However, as 
a consequence of the Minister’s Section 22 request not all 
meetings took place, although most were conducted as 
scheduled. The table below indicates the number of public 
meetings held in each province as at 18 March 2015.

PROVINCE
NUMBER 

OF PUBLIC 
MEETINGS

% OF TOTAL 
(224)

Eastern Cape 22 56,41

Free State 15 75,00

Gauteng 4 57,14

KwaZulu-Natal 20 45,45

Limpopo 14 56,00

Mpumalanga 14 77,78

Northern Cape 26 96,30

North West 11 57,89

Western Cape 21 84,00

The table shows the percentage of public meetings (i.e., 1 
per municipality) completed in each province: Northern 
Cape (96.30%), Western Cape (84%), Mpumalanga 
(77.78%), Free State (75%), North West (57.89%), Gauteng 
(57.14%), Eastern Cape (56.41%), Limpopo (56%), and 
KwaZulu-Natal (45.45%). It is worth noting that the high 
percentage of public meetings held in the Northern and 
Western Cape provinces may be attributed to the minimal 
effect the Minister’s section 22 request for redetermination 
of some municipal boundaries had on municipalities in 
these provinces. Only two municipalities were affected in 
the Northern Cape, while in the Western Cape none were 
proposed for redetermination. On the other hand, a large 
number of KwaZulu-Natal municipalities were listed in the 
Minister’s request and, as a result, most public meetings in 
this province were postponed or suspended. 

Total number of municipalities with wards 224

Number of municipalities with wards per province:

Eastern Cape 39

Free State 20

Gauteng 7

KwaZulu-Natal 44

Limpopo 25

Mpumalanga 18

Northern Cape 27

North West 19

Western Cape 25
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1.3.5 Other stakeholder engagements

In order to create awareness and keep stakeholders 
up to date on the ward delimitation process.   
The MDB made presentations to all Independent 
Electoral Commission’s Provincial Party Liaison 
Committees (PLC). These are the forums composed of 
all political parties represented in provincial legislatures. 
The PLCs meet quarterly and the MDB presented on 
the ward delimitation process clarifying the role of all 
the stakeholders during the ward delimitation process 
and the timeframes thereof. Briefing sessions were also 
provided to the National PLC.

The Board regularly attended national and provincial 
intergovernmental relations and governance fora of 
the South Africa Local Government Association. 

Presentations were also made to a number of other 
national and provincial fora e.g. MinMEC and the 
Presidential Coordinating Council (PCC) both political 
and technical. The MDB also honoured and presented 
during the sessions of the National and Provincial 

Houses of Traditional Leaders during this review period.

2. REDETERMINATION OF MUNICIPAL 
BOUNDARIES: PROPOSAL BY THE MINISTER 
OF COGTA ACCORDING TO SECTION 22 OF 
MUNICIPAL DEMARCATION ACT 27 OF 1998

In terms of the Municipal Demarcation Act, the  
redetermination process can be triggered by either of the 
following mechanisms in terms of Section 22(1):

• Board’s own initiative;

• On request by the Minister or MEC for local government; 
or

• On request by a municipality with the concurrence 
of any other municipality affected by the proposed 
determination or re-determination.

The Board begins the legal process by publication of 
a Section 26 notice in newspapers, radio or any other 
appropriate mechanisms. The intention is to solicit 

public views and representations on the proposed  
re-determination. Members of the public are given not 
less than 21 days to submit their views. After the closing 
date the Board considers all the submissions and decide 
to either determine, conduct public meetings, formal 
investigations or conduct both public meetings and formal 
investigations. Should the Board opt to conduct public 
meetings and/or formal investigations, on conclusion 
thereof the MDB must consider the reports and decide 
whether to re-determine the municipal boundaries 
in terms of Section 21 or not. If the MDB decided to 
re-determine in terms of Section 21 its decisions are 
published in a provincial Gazette. The Board will invite any 
member of the public aggrieved by the determination to 
submit their objections in writing within a period not less 
than 30 days. On expiry of the objection period the Board 
considers all objections and decide whether to confirm, 
vary or withdraw its determination in terms of Section 
21(5). The Board will then publish its final determination in 
a provincial Gazette. The sequence is illustrated as follows:
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The Municipal Demarcation Board had concluded the 
boundary re-determination for the current cyce during 
October 2013. However, proposals were received from the 
Minister of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs 
(COGTA) in terms of Section 22(2), requesting that the 
MDB re-determines boundaries of certain municipalities 
with a view to making them more sustainable and 
financially viable

All requests received from the Minister are presented 
below.

EASTERN CAPE

DEM No REQUEST BY MINISTER

DEM4500 Amalgamate Ikwezi LM (EC103), Baviaans LM (EC107) and Camdeboo LM (EC101) with the view to 
optimizing the financial viability of the new municipality. 

DEM4501 Disestablish Great Kei LM and amalgamate with Buffalo City Metro with the view to optimizing the 
financial viability of the new municipality. 

DEM4502 Amalgamate Gariep LM with Maletswai LM (EC143) with the view to optimizing the financial viability 
of the new municipality. 

DEM4503 Amalgamate Nxuba LM with Nkonkobe LM (EC127) with the view to optimizing the financial viability 
of the new municipality. 

DEM4505 Amalgamate Inkwanca LM, Tsolwana LM (EC132) and Lukhanji LM (EC134) with the view to 
optimizing the financial viability of the new municipality. 

NORTH WEST

DEM No. REQUEST BY THE MINISTER

DEM4516 Amalgamate Kagisano Molopo LM (NW397) and Naledi LM (NW392) with the view to optimizing the 
financial viability of the new municipality.

DEM4517 Amalgamate Ventersdorp LM and Tlokwe LM, and optimizing the financial viability of the new 
municipality by incorporating wards from the Matlosana LM. 

DEM4540 Amalgamate Kgetleng Rivier LM with Rustenburg LM with a view to optimizing the financial viability 
of the new municipality.

DEM4541 Disestablish Ratlou LM and amalgamate with Mahikeng and Tswaing LMs with a view to optimizing 
the financial viability of the new municipalities.

KWAZULU-NATAL

DEM No REQUEST BY MINISTER

DEM4520 Create a Category A Municipality with The Msunduzi as its core:

Option 1: Whole District becomes a Category A municipality

Option 2: The local municipalities of Mkambathini (KZN226), excluding the Traditional Authority 
areas of Nkosi Mkize (to be amalgamated with eThekwini Metro), The Msunduzi (KZN225) and 
Richmond (KZN227) be amalgamated to form a Category A municipality.  The local municipalities 
of uMshwati (KZN221), uMngeni (KZN222), including disestablished wards 1, 2 and 3 from Mpofana 
(KZN223) and lmpendle (KZN224) municipalities will then form the local municipalities within the 
Umgungundlovu District Municipality.



Municipal Demarcation Board  Annual Report 2014/1522

KWAZULU-NATAL (Continued)

DEM4521 Create a Category A Municipality with Umhlatuze as its core:

Option: The whole District becomes a Category A municipality Mbonambi (KZN281), Umhlathuze 
(KZN282), Ntambanana (KZN283), uMlalazi (KZN284),Mthonjaneni (KZN285), Nkandla (KZN286).

DEM4522 Disestablish Mpofana (KZN223) Local Municipality: 

Wards 1, 2 and 3 Mpofana to be amalgamated with uMngeni Municipality (KZN222), while ward 
4 Mpofana be amalgamated with Umvoti Municipality (KZN245). A portion of ward 2 Mpofana 
be incorporated into lmpendle Municipality (KZN224). The effect of this would be the total 
disestablishment of Mpofana Local  Municipality.

DEM4523 Align Traditional boundaries:

The Traditional Area of Embo/Thumini be excised from Mkambathini Local Municipality and 
included into the eThekwini Metro.

DEM4524 Align Traditional boundaries:

Two options are put forward for possible redetermination, but a full consultation process must be 
undertaken.

Option 1: Excise wards 3 and 4 from Nquthu Local Municipality (KZN242) and incorporate them 
into Ulundi Local Municipality (KZN266). This would consolidate community members from 
these two wards with wards 16 and 23 Ulundi municipality where the majority of the Ntombela 
community members presently reside. Certain minor adjustments within the Mthonjaneni and 
Nkandla municipalities will have to be made, incorporating them into Ulundi Municipality. The 
Zondo Traditional Authority must remain in Nquthu.

Option 2: Wards 16, 17, 21 and 23 Ulundi Municipality be incorporated into the Nquthu Municipal 
area, with the same minor adjustments in Mthonjaneni and Nkandla municipalities having to be 
made.

DEM4525 Align Traditional boundaries:

A certain portion of the Nyuswa Tribal Area falling within the Ubuhlebezwe (KZN434) municipal 
area needs to be excised from that municipality and be incorporated into Vulamehlo municipality, 
and ultimately into Umdoni (KZN212) municipality, as Vulamehlo is being split between Umdoni 
and eThekwini metro.

DEM4526 Align Traditional boundaries:

Qwabe Traditional Area be excised from Umzumbe Local Municipality (KZN213) and incorporated 
into Hibiscus Coast Local Municipality (KZN216).

DEM4527 Align Traditional boundaries:

It is proposed that wards 5 and 6 of Umvoti Local Municipality (KZN245) be incorporated into 
Maphumulo Local Municipality (KZN294)

DEM4528 Align Traditional boundaries if a Category A municipality for Greater Umhlathuze (including 
Mfolozi) is not considered an option by the Board.

Somopo Tribal area which has been split in terms of DEM4176 be taken up with the MDB for it to 
be included into Mfolozi (KZN281) or alternatively into uMhlathuze Municipality (KZN282).

DEM4529 Align Traditional boundaries:

The boundary between Umlalazi (KZN284) and Nkandla (KZN286) Local Municipalities requires 
consideration in terms of consolidating the Shange Traditional areas, preferably using a natural 
feature to determine the boundary.

DEM4530 Align Traditional boundaries:

Certain minor adjustments on the boundary between eDumbe (KZN261) and uPhongolo (KZN262) 
municipal areas need to be made.
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LIMPOPO

DEM No. REQUEST BY MINISTER

DEM4519 Disestablish Mutale LM with a view to optimising the financial viability of all the municipalities in 
the Vhembe District Municipality.

DEM4531 Disestablish Aganang LM with a view to optimising the financial viability of Polokwane, Blouberg 
and Molemole municipalities in the Capricorn District Municipality.

DEM4532 Disestablish Maruleng LM with a view to optimising the financial viability of Grater Tzaneen an Ba-
Phalalborwa municipalities in the Mopani District Municipality.

DEM4533 Disestablish Fetakgomo LM with a view to optimising the financial viability of Greater Tubatse and 
Makhuduthamaga municipalities in the Sekhukhune District Municipality.

DEM4534 Amalgamate Modimolle and Mookgopong LMs with a view to optimizing financial viability of the 
new municipality. 

NORTHERN CAPE

DEM No. REQUEST BY THE MINISTER

DEM4513 Amalgamate Mier LM and //Khara Hais LM with a view to optimizing the financial viability of the 
new municipality.

MPUMALANGA

DEM No. REQUEST BY THE MINISTER

DEM4535 Amalgamate Dr Pixley Ka Isaka Seme LM and Msukaligwa LM with a view to optimizing the 
financial viability of the new municipality. 

DEM4536 Amalgamate Dipaleseng LM and Lekwa LM with a view to optimizing the financial viability of the 
new municipality.

DEM4537 Amalgamate Umjindi LM and Mbombela LM with a view to optimizing the financial viability of the 
new municipality.

DEM4538 Amalgamate Emakhazeni LM and Steve Tshwete LM with a view to optimizing the financial 
viability of the new municipality.

DEM4539 Amalgamate Victor Khanye LM and Emalahleni LM with a view to optimizing the financial viability 
of the new municipality.

FREE STATE

DEM No. REQUEST BY THE MINISTER

DEM4542 Incorporate Naledi LM into the Mangaung Metropolitan Municipality with a view to optimizing 
financial viability.

DEM4543 Incorporate the Ikgomotseng/Soutpan community from the Masilonyana LM into the Mangaung 
Metropolitan Municipality.

Incorporate the Glen Magisterial area and surrounding farms from Masilonyana LM into Mangaung 
Metropolitan Municipality to ensure the economic sustainability of the farming communities in 
the area. 

Municipalities in eight provinces were affected, with the Western Cape being excluded. The numbers of affected 
municipalities are presented below.
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PROVINCE

TOTAL NO. OF 
CASES

(AS PER 
REQUEST)

NO. OF  
AFFECTED LOCAL 
MUNICIPALITIES

NO. OF AFFECTED 
DISTRICT 

MUNICIPALITIES

NO. OF 
AFFECTED 

METROPOLITAN 
MUNICIPALITIES

NO .OF CASES 
THAT FELL OFF 
AFTER SEC 26

NO. OF CASES 
SUBJECTED 
TO PUBLIC 

MEETINGS AND 
INVESTIGATIONS

Eastern Cape 5 11 1 1 1 4

KwaZulu-Natal 11 22 7 1 10 1

Limpopo 5 16 0 0 0 5

Mpumalanga 5 10 0 0 0 4

Northern Cape 1 2 0 0 0 1

North West 4 10 0 0 1 4

Free State 2 2 2 1 1 1

Western Cape 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gauteng 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 33  73  10  3 13 20

*Section 22 proposal for Gauteng was received from the Minister in April 2015 outside of the review period.

After receiving proposals on municipalities to be considered for redetermination, the Board published Section 26 
notices, i.e., to indicate the intention to consider the matters and invite written representation and views within 21 days 
of publication. Notices were published in newspapers and broadcast on national, provincial and local radio stations 
in the areas of the affected communities. Most publications were released during the months of February and March 
2015. Notices were published as reflected below.

MDB Circular
Municipalities in 

Province
Newspapers Published date Closing date

2/2015 KZN Isolezwe 6/2/2015 27/2/2015

2/2015 EC Herald 
Daily Despatch

10/2/2015 3/3/2015

2/2015 LIM Sowetan 10/2/2015 3/3/2015

2/2015 NW NewAge 10/2/2015 3/3/2015

3/2015 NW NewAge 16/2/2015 9/3/2015

3/2015 MP Sowetan/Beeld 18/2/2015 11/3/2015

3/2015 NC Sowetan/Beeld 18/2/2015 11/3/2015

2/2015 EC (DEM 4500) Die Burger 26/2/2015 20/3/2015

2/2015 EC (DEM4502) Volksblad / Die 
Burger

06/3/2015
06/3/2015

27/3/2015 
27/3/2015

4/2015 FS Volksblad New Age  17/3/2015  7/4/2015

The Board considered all Section 26 submissions and took decisions in terms of section 27 of the Municipal Demarcation 
Act of 1998. The Board resolved not to proceed with 13 of the 33 proposed redeterminations. Public meetings and 
formal investigations were to be conducted for 20 of the 33 cases as shown below:
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EASTERN CAPE

DEM4500 Amalgamate Ikwezi LM (EC103), Baviaans LM (EC107) and Camdeboo LM (EC101) with the view 
to optimizing the financial viability of the new municipality. 

DEM4502 Amalgamate Gariep LM with Maletswai LM (EC143) with the view to optimizing the financial 
viability of the new municipality. 

DEM4503 Amalgamate Nxuba LM with Nkonkobe LM (EC127) with the view to optimizing the financial 
viability of the new municipality. 

DEM4505 Amalgamate Inkwanca LM, Tsolwana LM (EC132) and Lukhanji LM (EC134) with the view to 
optimizing the financial viability of the new municipality. 

FREE STATE

DEM4542 Incorporate Naledi LM into the Mangaung Metropolitan Municipality with a view to optimizing 
the financial viability of the new municipality.

KWAZULU-NATAL

DEM4522 Disestablish Mpofana (KZN223) Local Municipality: 

Wards 1, 2 and 3 Mpofana to be amalgamated with uMngeni Municipality (KZN222), while 
ward 4 Mpofana be amalgamated with Umvoti Municipality (KZN245). A portion of ward 2 
Mpofana be incorporated into lmpendle Municipality (KZN224). The effect of this would be the 
total disestablishment of Mpofana  Municipality.

LIMPOPO

DEM4519 Disestablish Mutale LM with a view to optimising the financial viability of all the municipalities 
in the Vhembe District Municipality.

DEM4531 Disestablish Aganang LM with a view to optimising the financial viability of Polokwane, 
Blouberg and Molemole municipalities in the Capricorn District Municipality.

DEM4532 Disestablish Maruleng LM with a view to optimising the financial viability of Greater Tzaneen 
and Ba-Phalaborwa municipalities in the Mopani District Municipality.

DEM4533 Disestablish Fetakgomo LM with a view to optimising the financial viability of Greater Tubatse 
and Makhuduthamaga municipalities in the Sekhukhune District Municipality.

DEM4534 Amalgamate Modimolle and Mookgopong LMs with a view to optimizing financial viability of 
the new municipality. 

MPUMALANGA

DEM4535 Amalgamate Dr Pixley Ka Isaka Seme LM and Msukaligwa LM with a view to optimizing the 
financial viability of the new municipality. 

DEM4536 Amalgamate Dipaleseng LM and Lekwa LM with a view to optimizing the financial viability of 
the new municipality. 

DEM4537 Amalgamate Umjindi LM and Mbombela LM with a view to optimizing the financial viability of 
the new municipality.

DEM4538 Amalgamate Emakhazeni LM and Steve Tshwete LM with a view to optimizing the financial 
viability of the new municipality.

DEM4539 Amalgamate Victor Khanye LM and Emalahleni LM with a view to optimizing the financial 
viability of the new municipality.

NORTHERN CAPE

DEM4513 Amalgamate Mier LM and //Khara Hais LM with a view to optimizing the financial viability of 
the new municipality.
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NORTH WEST

DEM4516 Amalgamate Kagisano Molopo LM (NW397) and Naledi LM (NW392) with the view to optimizing 
the financial viability of the new municipality.

DEM4517 Amalgamate Ventersdorp LM and Tlokwe LM, and optimizing the financial viability of the new 
municipality by incorporating wards from the Matlosana LM. 

DEM4541 Disestablish Ratlou LM and amalgamate with Mahikeng and Tswaing LMs with a view to 
optimizing the financial viability of the new municipalities.

DEM4540 Amalgamate Kgetleng Rivier LM with Rustenburg LM with a view to optimizing the financial 
viability of the new municipality.

3 RESEARCH PROJECTS

3.1  Investigation into the feasibility of proposed redetermination 
of municipal boundaries of Thulamela Local Municipality by 
excluding the area of Malamulele and determining the area 
into a separate Category B Municipality

The proposal for the redetermination of Thulamela Local 
Municipality to create a separate municipality for the 
Malamulele community was handled by the Municipal 
Demarcation Board during the redetermination process 
of 2011/2013.  After considering the proposal at its 
meeting of 16 August 2012, the Municipal Demarcation 
Board resolved not to proceed with the proposal, but 
nonetheless have the matter investigated. 

In May 2014, the Board resolved to commission a feasibility 
study on the proposal. The study was conducted with 
emphasis on compliance of the proposal to the criteria 
for redetermination of municipal boundaries as stipulated 
in Sections 24 and 25 of the Municipal Demarcation Act 
27 of 1998. The feasibility study found that the proposal 
did not comply with most of the criteria and that the 
establishment of a new municipality may not be the 
solution to the problems cited in the proposal. The stand-
alone Malamulele municipality would therefore not be 
feasible. In addition, the study made recommendations 
on some interventions that could be instituted by the 
local government stakeholders in the affected areas of 
Malamulele to resolve the current difficulties. 

Notwithstanding the violent protests that followed the 
release of the report, the Malamulele community has, 
following the Minister’s Section 22(2) proposal, come 
onboard to make meaningful inputs (along with the 
rest of the public in Vhembe) in the reconfuguration of 
municipal boundaries of the Vhembe district.

3.2   Post redetermination transitional arrangements

The implementation of decisions of the Board with regards 
to municipal boundary changes or redeterminations, 
especially those characterised by disestablishment, 
amalgamation and recategorisation of municipalities has 
been a growing concern for the MDB. In this regard, the 
MDB has been engaged in consultations with a number of 
stakeholders such as provinces, COGTA, Finance and Fiscal 
Commission (FFC), National Treasury and the South African 
Local Government Association (SALGA). The intention 
is for the MDB to ensure that relevant stakeholder play 
their anticipated role in the preparatory work towards the 
implementation of its decisions. To this extent, the MDB 
was involved in the Kwazulu Natal task team on transitional 
arrangements in 2014. 

The MDB was also instrumental in the conceptualisation 
of the Demarcation Transitional Grant announced by the 
Minister of Finance in his Medium Term Budget Policy 
Statement in 2014. Work on determining the cost of 
implementing re-determinations is continuing between 
the abovementioned stakeholders with the involvement 
of the MDB.

3.3  Advisory role

Another part of the MDB’s mandate would be to act in 
an advisory capacity. The MDB is required to provide 
advisory services on matters pertaining to boundaries 
and this changed the vision into placing greater focus on 
the “bigger picture” of what the MDB strives to achieve, as 
it also drives the process in other areas. The MDB regards 
capacity assessment as one of the key instruments 
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available to the Board in enabling it to change and 
reshape the local government sector as a whole. It was 
not regarded as such in the past, but the MDB believes 
that its new focus will play a positive role in its future 
perspective.

3.4   Capacity constraints and challenges

The following capacity constraints and challenges were 
identified:

• Insufficient financial resources for additional human 
resources (i.e specialist skills);

• Insufficient funding for usage in extended stakeholder 
and public engagement to ensure sufficient coverage 
of stakeholders affected by the work of the MDB;

• Overreliance on stakeholders for assistance, especially 
municipalities thus risking loss of its control over its 
operations e.g. municipalities are often requested to 
extend invitations and provide venues;

• The depth and extent of research investigations 
is often compromised when resources are not 
available, as such some cases would be prioritized at 
the expense of others; and

• The acquisition of cutting edge technologies and up-
to-date spatial data is often sacrificed in order to save 
resources, thus affecting the quality of information 
brought before the Board for decision making. There 
is a limited number of MDB operational systems 
that are automated, which has an impact on the 
turnaround times for projects and quality of outputs. 
Manual systems have been employed to a certain 
degree of success.

Technology is an enabler in terms of improving internal 
processes and increasing the footprint of the MDB by 
making the municipality and /ward information available 
through the web and other conduits. Other technological 
interventions required are the following:

• Using Geographical Information System (GIS) tools 
to assist in participatory mapping during public 
consultations;

• Deploying data warehousing to integrate data from 
different sources for reporting and decision support 
to the Board;

• Improving the document management system 
(i.e. Paper Trail) to enable the storage, sharing and 
handling of correspondence and project-specific 
documentation; and

• Ensure easy sharing and securing of the organizational 
information.

The Board is in the process of strengthening the 
organisation’s research and knowledge management, in 
order to ensure that there is solid research to back up the 
Board’s decisions with regard to employment in the area 
of demarcation. 

4  Legislative amendments

The mandate of the Board is contained in two separate 
pieces of legislation, namely the Municipal Demarcation 
Act No. 27 of 1998 and the Municipal Structures Act No 117 
of 1998. The Board has identified several areas that require 
attention in order to facilitate smooth implementation and 
therefore efficient execution of the mandate of the Board. 

To highlight just a few, legislation affecting the mandate 
of the MDB might have to be consolidated into a single 
piece.  A need to relook at the legislative provisions on 
the organisational form (the nature of the Board), the 
enhancement and clarification of the demarcation 
objectives and criteria, the review of the norm regarding 
the delimitations of the wards as well as provisions for the 
regulation of public consultation.
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PART C

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION



Municipal Demarcation Board  Annual Report 2014/15 29

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the 
preparation of the Municipal Demarcation Board’s 
performance information and for the judgements made 
in this information.  

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for establishing 
and implementing a system of internal control designed 
to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of performance information.  

In my opinion, the performance information fairly reflects 
the actual achievements against planned objectives, 

indicators and targets as per the strategic and annual 
performance plan of the Municipal Demarcation Board 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2015.  

The Municipal Demarcation Board’s performance 
information for the year ended 31 March 2015 has been 
examined by the external auditors and their report is 
presented on page 27. 

The performance information of the institution set out 
on page 28 to page 36 was approved by the acting 
accounting officer.  

1. STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

Mr Aluwani Ramagadza
Acting Chief Executive Officer
Municipal Demarcation Board
16 July 2015

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR PERFORMANCE INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

2. AUDITOR’S REPORT: PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES

The Auditor-General South Africa (AGSA) currently 
performs the necessary audit procedures on the 
performance information to provide reasonable assurance 
in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion 
on performance against predetermined objectives is 
included in the report to Management, with material 

findings being reported under the Predetermined 
objectives heading in the Report on other legal and 
regulatory requirements section of the Auditor’s Report.  

See page 57 of the Auditor’s Report, published as Part F:  
Financial Information.  
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3. OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE

3.1  SERVICE DELIVERY ENVIRONMENT

During the 2014/15 financial year, the Municipal 
Demarcation Board embarked on the ward delimitation 
process in preparation for the 2016 local government 
elections. As a result, a considerable part of the year was 
dedicated to delimiting wards in all 224 municipalities 
that qualify to have wards; and 70% of all municipalities 
qualifying to have wards were consulted by the end of 
March 2015. In an effort to deepen public participation, 
the launch of a nationwide consultation process on 
ward delimitations was held on 09 December 2014 in  
Ugu District Municipality, KwaZulu-Natal.  

In the period under review the Minister of COGTA, in 
line with Section 22 of the Local Government: Municipal 
Demarcation Act 27 of 1998, requested that the Board 
consider the redetermination of outer boundaries of some 
municipalities to improve their financial viability. This was 
the first request of this nature since the inception of the 
Municipal Demarcation Board and it certainly lifted the bar 
on the performance of the MDB at a time that was already 
characterised by intense activity as a result of the ward 
delimitation process. The request for redetermination of 
the municipal boundaries affected municipalities in eight 
provinces during the 2014/15 financial year.

Given the nature of the Board’s work, citizens are beginning 
to demand that the Board is not only independent but is 
seen to be independent. The Board’s successes since the 
year 2000 have been achieved, in part, through strong 
partnerships established with other institutions. These 
include the Independent Electoral Commission, Statistics 

South Africa, Fiscal and Financial Commission, the 
Department of Cooperative Governance and Traditional 
Affairs as well as municipalities. These partnerships could 
be leveraged to mitigate the Board’s internal capacity 
constraints. The existing partnerships, while critical for 
coordination and integration, must be limited to activities 
that do not, directly or indirectly, influence the extent of 
public participation or decisions related to the Board’s 
mandate. This requires that the Board build internal 
resources and capabilities commensurate with the size 
and complexity of its mandate.

3.2  ORGANISATIONAL ENVIRONMENT

While the Board is confident about the achievements of 
the year under review, there were internal challenges that 
highlighted several areas that need to be enhanced in the 
overall performance of the Board in executing its strategic 
plan and annual performance plan.

Major weaknesses in the organisational structure have 
been highlighted by the Board on several occasions and 
through annual reports over the past few years. 

The staff complement of the Board is 46, including eight 
interns and eight contract employees.

This organisational structure is not only too small to execute 
the Board’s mandate, but the ratio is skewed in favour 
of support staff. Only 36% of the total staff component 
comprises specialists and technical people responsible for 
the two programmes that drive the core mandate.

Chairperson of the Municipal 
Demarcation Board, Ms Jane Thupana 
being interviewed at the Ward 
Delimitation Launch.
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Critical management positions such as the Chief Executive 
Officer, Executive Manager: Corporate Services, Head: 
Stakeholder Management and Communication, and 
Head: Research were vacant for the greater part of the 
2014/15 financial year. The Chief Financial Officer resigned 
just before financial year end.

Despite human and financial constraints, the Board has 
been in the forefront in the ward delimitation process 
and its response to the Minister of COGTA’s request 
to consider the redetermination of certain municipal 
boundaries prior to the local government elections. The 
Operations and Research Division, however, lacks human 
resources to enhance public participation in all nine 
provinces. A need was expressed to increase the footprint 
of the Board nationally. The organisation currently has 
only seven specialists to fulfil its provincial focus, whereas 
the long-term goal is to have a team of three specialists 
per province. 

Another key strategic priority identified was effective 
stakeholder management, including communication and 
public education about redeterminations, delimitations 
and municipal capacity assessments. A Stakeholder 
Management Unit was established and the Head: 
Stakeholder Management and Communication was 
appointed in February 2015.

The institution was dependent on outsourcing its research 
activities due to lack of capacity within its core functions. 
To address this gap, a recruitment drive commenced in 
2014/15 to capacitate the research sub-programme with 

at least two researchers and a Head. A Head of Research 
was appointed in January 2015 and two Research 
Specialist positions will be filled in the next financial year.

3.3  KEY POLICY DEVELOPMENTS AND 
LEGISLATIVE CHANGES

There were no key policy developments or legislative 
changes for the period under review.  

3.4  STRATEGIC OUTCOME-ORIENTED GOALS 
(2014/15)

• Delimitation of municipal ward boundaries for local 
elections.

• Assessment of the capacity of metropolitan, district 
and local municipalities.

• Redetermination of municipal outer boundaries

• Render advisory services in respect of demarcation 
matters.

• An efficient and effective organisation.

• Optimal performance and service-focused culture.

• Continuous compliance with relevant legislative and 
regulatory requirements.

• Enhancement of stakeholder relations and 
communication.

Member of the public viewing draft ward 
map at Ekurhuleni public engagement 
session.
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4. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME 

4.1  PROGRAMME 1:  OPERATIONS AND RESEARCH

Provides management of all processes in pursuit of the legislative mandate of the Municipal Demarcation Board and 
includes:

• Determination and redetermination of municipal boundaries

• Appropriate categorisation of municipalities

• Advisory service on the alignment of service delivery boundaries to municipal boundaries

• Declaration and withdrawal of declaration of district management areas

• Delimitation of municipal wards for local government elections

• Oversees the process to assess the capacity of municipalities to perform their functions and renders advice to 
MECs to adjust powers and functions between district and local municipalities.  

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS, PLANNED TARGETS AND ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENTS

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:  DELIMITATION OF MUNICIPAL WARD BOUNDARIES FOR LOCAL ELECTIONS

STRATEGIES/  
ACTIVITIES

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS 

2013/14

PLANNED TARGET 
2014/15 ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT 2014/15

DEVIATION 
FROM PLANNED 

TARGET TO 
ACTUAL 

ACHIEVEMENT 
FOR 2014/15

COMMENT ON 
DEVIATIONS

1.1

Preparation of 1st 
draft mapping for 
municipalities qualifying 
to have wards

Turnaround time for the 
completion of first draft 
mapping

N/A 100% of 1st draft 
mapping completed 
by second quarter

Due to the delay in the publication of 
the formula by the Minister responsible 
for local government and subsequent 
later determination of the number 
of councillors by MECs for local 
government, the ward delimitation 
process only commenced in September 
2014.  The 1st draft maps were all 
completed by November 2014 and a 
launch for the public consultations was 
held in December 2014. Consultations 
began in January 2015 and 70% of all 
municipalities qualifying to have wards 
were consulted by the end of March 
2015.

None None

1.2

Preparation of 2nd 
draft mapping for 
municipalities qualifying 
to have wards

Turnaround time for the 
completion of second 
draft mapping

N/A 100% of 2nd draft 
mapping completed 
by second quarter

1.3

Conduct consultation 
sessions on 1st draft ward 
boundaries

Turnaround time for 
the completion of 
public and stakeholder 
consultation

N/A 50% of municipalities 
qualifying to have 
wards consulted. 

{118 municipalities 
(235 * ½)}

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:  ASSESSMENT OF THE CAPACITY OF METROPOLITAN, DISTRICT AND LOCAL MUNICIPALITIES

STRATEGIES/  
ACTIVITIES

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS 

2013/14

PLANNED TARGET 
2014/15 ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT 2014/15

1.2
.1

Effectively manage the 
capacity assessment 
project

Number of project 
management reports 
issued per quarter in 
line with project charter

N/A 13 project monitoring 
reports issued

The Board expressed an opinion that there is a need to chart a common cause 
for this important work of the Board. There is a need for engagement with 
all role players to understand the nature and objectives of the assessments 
and understand if they still meet the needs of the local government system. 
Such policy discussions will require time and uninterrupted attention from 
the Board, which will need to come out of that process with a clear policy 
direction on what the assessments are, what changes are to be effected and 
how and when these should be conducted.  As soon as that is finalised, clear 
terms of reference will be prepared. However, due to lack of human resources 
in the Operations & Research Division to manage such work, it could not be 
completed during 2014/15. It was decided that the ward delimitation process 
be completed first before capacity assessments are embarked upon.

1.2
.2

Compile capacity 
assessment reports

Number of district, 
local and metropolitan 
reports produced 

N/A 278 municipal 
capacity assessment 
reports
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:  RENDER ADVISORY SERVICES IN RESPECT OF DEMARCATION MATTERS

STRATEGIES/  
ACTIVITIES

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS 

2013/14

PLANNED TARGET 
2014/15 ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT 2014/15

DEVIATION 
FROM PLANNED 

TARGET TO 
ACTUAL 

ACHIEVEMENT 
FOR 2014/15

1.3
.1

Participate in and render 
advice to transformation 
structures in respect 
of major re-
determinations and 
re-categorisation

Implementation of 
framework for planning 
and transformation for 
identified major re-
determination cases 

N/A Render advice to 
established planning 
and transformation 
structures for 
identified major cases

Presentations on the ward delimitation process were 
made to various forums including the Technical 
Presidential Coordination Council and MinMEC.  

The Board worked with the Financial and Fiscal 
Commission, which led to the Minister of Finance 
committing to a grant for all municipalities affected by 
amalgamations and categorisation. 

A Model/Framework for the cost structure (costing) 
of the implementation of major (amalgamations, 
categorisations) redeterminations in KZN and Gauteng is 
being developed in conjunction with FFC, SALGA and NT. 

No deviation 
from actual 
target

STRATEGY TO OVERCOME AREAS OF UNDER 
PERFORMANCE

The work of the MDB, especially ward delimitation, 
is dependent on other stakeholders fulfilling their 
obligations before the MDB can commence its work. 
In future there is a need for possibly reconsidering the 
present legal framework to provide for specific timeframes 
within which the Minister needs to publish the formula 
for the determination of the number of councillors and 
for MECs to determine the number of councillors. This will 
ensure that the work of the MDB is not delayed. 

Overall, the MDB needs to improve its project management 
capabilities to ensure there are clearly defined targets and 
that these are strictly adhered to.

 
CHANGES TO PLANNED TARGETS

The commencement of the ward delimitation process 
was delayed due to the late publication of the formula 
by the Minister for local government. This resulted in 
adjustments to quarterly targets and a condensing of 
the whole process to adhere to timeframes for successful 
2016 local government elections.  

The capacity assessment project was suspended as the 
Board is of the opinion that there is a need to chart a 
common cause, or strategy, for this work across the local 
government sector.  

Ward delimitation 
public consultations
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4.2 PROGRAMME 2:  FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
Provides policy leadership, advice and core support services, including:

• Financial management
• Financial reporting
• Supply chain management
• Risk management.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS, PLANNED TARGETS AND ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENTS

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:  AN EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE ORGANISATION

STRATEGIES/  
ACTIVITIES

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS 

2013/14

PLANNED 
TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/15

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 

2014/15

COMMENT ON DEVIATIONS

2.1
.1

Implement 
effective financial 
management 
controls

Opinion of the 
Auditor-General on 
Annual Financial 
Statements 

Unqualified 
audit opinion

Clean audit 
(Unqualified 
audit without 
emphasis of 
matter)

Unqualified audit opinion Emphisis of 
matterwas reported 
by Auditor-General 
as significant 
uncertainties

The Board is a defendant to various 
lawsuits involving the Midvaal 
Munisipality an the redetermination 
of boundaries affecting the said 
Municipality. The ultimate outcomes 
of this matter cannot presently be 
determined and no provision for any 
liability that may result has been made 
in the Annual Financial Statements

2.1
.2

Develop, implement 
and maintain 
compliance and 
quality assurance 
systems for 
operations

Internal audit 
rating

Achieved 2.4 
average internal 
audit rating

Internal audit 
rating 2 (audit 
objectives 
met with 
housekeeping 
matters)

Cumulative internal audit 
rating of 3

One level lower 
than the targeted 
outcome

Two internal audits were performed 
during the year under review. 
An internal audit rating of 2 was 
achieved for one audit.  The deviation 
relates to the new Stakeholder 
Relations Unit, which was only 
capacitated in February 2015

2.1
.3

Effectively monitor, 
report and evaluate 
organisational 
and financial 
performance 
against the strategic 
objectives

Frequency of 
organisational 
and financial 
performance 
monitoring 
reporting

N/A One 
organisational 
and financial 
performance 
monitoring 
report issued

Organisational and financial 
performance reports for all 
three programmes were issued 

None None

2.1
.4

Procure goods 
and services in 
compliance with 
applicable legislation

Value of irregular 
expenditure 
incurred

N/A Zero irregular 
expenditure

Irregular expenditure incurred 
during the year

R3.3million in 
irregular expediture 
incurred

Contracts were extended without 
the approval of a properly delegated 
official as required by Treasury 
Regulation 8.1 and 8.2.  Deviations 
were approved by the accounting 
officer and management, even 
though it was not impractical 
to invite competitive bids in 
contravention of Treasury Regulation 
16A6.4

2.1
.5

Re-engineer and/or 
automate identified 
business processes

Number of 
identified business 
processes to be 
engineered

N/A Three business 
processes to 
be automated 
by end of year

Three business processed were 
automated  

Web portal for recruitment and 
selection

Implemented risk management 
and legal compliance software

Format in which to capture 
technical data collected at ward 
public consultative meetings 
was automated

None None
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4.3  PROGRAMME 3:  CORPORATE SERVICES

• Human resources and administration

• Legal and Board secretariat

• Communication and stakeholder management

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS, PLANNED TARGETS AND ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENTS

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:  OPTIMAL PERFORMANCE AND SERVICE-FOCUSED CULTURE

STRATEGIES/  
ACTIVITIES

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS 

2013/14

PLANNED TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/15

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 

2014/15

COMMENT ON DEVIATIONS

3.1
.1

Review and align the 
Human Resources 
Plan with the 
Organisation Strategy

Integrated Human 
Resources Plan in place

N/A Review and 
implement 
Integrated Human 
Resources Plan by 30 
June 2014

A Human Resources 
Strategy and Plan was 
developed.  However, 
this was not approved 
by the Remuneration 
and Human Capital 
Committee and was thus 
not implemented

Human Resources 
Strategy and Plan 
not implemented  

The Remuneration and Human 
Capital Committee requested 
that the HR Strategy and 
Plan be aligned with the 
Organisational Strategy and 
Divisional Strategies

3.1
.2

Implement an 
Employee Wellness 
Programme

Number of Wellness 
interventions 
conducted

Four EAP 
programmes 
concluded

Four Wellness 
interventions 
conducted

Four Wellness 
interventions were 
conducted 

None

3.1
.3

Improve 
organisational 
leadership and team 
cohesion

Number of 
team-building, 
leadership, change 
management and 
people management 
interventions

N/A Three leadership 
and team cohesion 
interventions held

Leadership and team 
cohesion interventions 
were suspended awaiting 
the outcome of the 
diagnostic analysis 
undertaken by the Board

Organisational 
leadership and 
team cohesion 
interventions were 
not implemented

The outcomes of the diagnostic 
analysis will impact on the type 
of interventions required for 
the organisation

3.1
.4

Develop and nurture 
employee skills and 
competencies

Implementation of the 
Workplace Skills Plan

All employees 
participated 
in training 
initiatives

Develop and 
implement 100% 
of  WSP

The implementation of 
the Workplace Skills Plan 
was put on hold

The revised 
Workplace Skills 
Plan has not 
been approved by 
Remuneration and 
Human Capital 
Committee and has 
therefore not been 
implemented

The Remuneration and Human 
Capital Committee requested 
that the Workplace Skills 
Plan be interrogated by Unit 
Managers to reflect actual 
training objectives that will 
support the achievement of the 
mandate of the Board

3.1
.5

Effectively 
manage individual 
performance

Percentage of 
employees on 
establishment with 
performance contracts 
in place

N/A 100% of employees 
on establishment 
with performance 
contracts in place

100% of employees in 
the establishment with 
performance contracts 
in place

None

3.1
.6

Conduct employee 
behaviour and 
satisfaction surveys

Number of surveys 
conducted per annum

One survey 
conducted

One survey conducted The employee behaviour 
and satisfaction survey 
was suspended, awaiting 
the outcome of the 
diagnostic analysis 
undertaken by the Board

A second survey 
was not conducted 
due to the initiation 
of an organisational 
diagnostic analysis

Due to the similarities of 
the questionnaire and the 
organisational diagnostic 
analysis, the second survey was 
not administered

STRATEGY TO OVERCOME AREAS OF UNDERPERFORMANCE
None.

CHANGES TO PLANNED TARGETS
Due to the delay in the commencement of the ward delimitation process, the custom automation of the capturing of 
technical data collected during ward delimitation process was achieved later than envisaged.  
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:  ENSURING GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

STRATEGIES/  
ACTIVITIES

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS 

2013/14

PLANNED TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/15

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 

2014/15

COMMENT ON DEVIATIONS

3.2
.1

Board supported by 
effective and efficient 
systems, processes 
and procedures

Review and/or amend 
policies and procedures

N/A Three reviewed and/
or amended policies 
and procedures 
submitted to Board 
for approval

Five policies were 
reviewed and approved by 
the Board 

Target exceeded  

3.2
.2

Implement the 
combined assurance 
model

Report on evaluation 
of compliance with 
applicable legislation

N/A Compile and report 
on evaluation of 
compliance with 
applicable legislation

The Combined Legal 
Assurance Model was 
approved by the Board on 
20 November 2014

Target not met Compliance with legislation 
register could not be 
implemented, pending 
approval of the Combined Legal 
Assurance Model

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:  ENHANCEMENT OF STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

STRATEGIES/ 
ACTIVITIES

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS 

2013/14

PLANNED TARGET 
2014/15 ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT 2014/15

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 

2014/15

COMMENT ON 
DEVIATIONS

3.3
.1

Implement 
an integrated 
stakeholder 
management 
plan

Number of 
engagements/ 
collaborations with 
stakeholders

Various 
stakeholder 
engagements 
held, 33 public 
meetings held

Hold four stakeholder 
engagements/ 
collaborations with 
established national 
stakeholder forum

Ward delimitation awareness/educational 
campaigns were held with provincial SALGA, 
provincial IEC Party Liaison Committees in all 
provinces and with COGTA 

A ward delimitation launch event was held

One exhibition in collaboration with SALGA at 
its national members assembly conducted

One national media briefing on mandate and 
roles of the Municipal Demarcation Board held

Target exceeded 

3.3
.2

Number of outreach, 
communication and 
educational activities

N/A Launch and conduct 
the “Know where you 
belong” Campaign in 
nine provinces

Ward delimitation awareness/educational 
campaigns were held with provincial SALGA, 
provincial IEC Party Liaison Committees in all 
provinces and with COGTA

A ward delimitation launch event was held 

One exhibition in collaboration with SALGA at 
its National Members’ Assembly conducted.

One national media briefing on mandate and 
roles of the Municipal Demarcation Board held

None None

3.3
.3

Number of outreach, 
communication and 
educational activities

N/A Commission nine 
provincial radio slots 
per annum

Several interviews for the Board Chairperson, 
Board members and Acting CEO were arranged

Commissioned 75 slots on 10 radio stations

None None

3.3
.4

Number of outreach, 
communication and 
educational activities

N/A Host nine provincial 
or regional 
information sessions 
per annum

Ward delimitation awareness/educational 
campaign were held with provincial SALGA, 
provincial IEC Party Liaison Committees in all 
provinces and with COGTA

A ward delimitation launch event was held  

Exhibition held at SALGA National Members 
Assembly conducted

None None
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:  ENHANCEMENT OF STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

STRATEGIES/ 
ACTIVITIES

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS 

2013/14

PLANNED TARGET 
2014/15 ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT 2014/15

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 

2014/15

COMMENT ON 
DEVIATIONS

3.3
.5

Number of outreach, 
communication and 
educational activities

N/A Publish four  
national/regional 
advertorials issued 
per annum

One advertorial was published in the 
Leadership in Local Government magazine

Pamphlets were printed and distributed in 
Ugu District Municipality to advertise the ward 
delimitation launch event

Four media releases were issued

Three advertorials 
not published  

Due to financial 
constraints, 
free media 
advertising was 
utilised in the 
form of media 
releases, radio 
& TV interviews, 
pamphlets and 
public notices

3.3
.6

Number of surveys 
conducted on trust 
and confidence 
conducted per 
annum

N/A Conduct one survey 
per annum

A survey was conducted during district 
consultation sessions

None

3.3
.7

Disseminate 
information to 
stakeholders

Number of circulars 
issued per annum

N/A Issue and disseminate 
five circulars and/or 
educational items

Eight circulars were issued Target exceeded

STRATEGY TO OVERCOME AREAS OF  
UNDER-PERFORMANCE

Due to financial constraints, specifically in regard to 
publication of advertorials, free media advertising was 
utilised in the form of media releases, radio and TV 
interviews, pamphlets and public notices to position 
and educate on, specifically, the ward delimitation and 
boundary redetermination processes, and the vision and 
mission of the Board.  

 

CHANGES TO PLANNED TARGETS

A Human Resources Strategy and Plan was developed.  
However, this was not approved by the Remuneration 
and Human Capital Committee during the period under 
review.

Leadership and team cohesion interventions were 
suspended because the results of the organisational 
diagnostic assessment would have affected the content 
of planned interventions. 

The Workplace Skills Plan was not implemented because 
managers were requested to interrogate the training 
requirements of their staff. This would have supported the 
achievement of the Board’s mandate.

The second employee behaviour and satisfaction survey 
was not administered due to similarities between 
the questionnaire and the organisational diagnostic 
assessment.  

The Combined Assurance Model, evaluation of 
compliance with applicable legislation could not be 
implemented, pending Board approval of the Combined 
Legal Assurance Model. Approval was granted on 20 
November 2014. Evaluation for the 4th quarter (01 January 
to 31 March 2015) will be combined. It was scheduled for 
tabling to the Board in May 2015.
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5.  SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

5.1 REVENUE COLLECTION

SOURCES OF REVENUE

2014/15 2013/14

ESTIMATE

R’000

ACTUAL 
COLLECTED

R’000

(OVER)/UNDER 
COLLECTION

R’000

ESTIMATE

R’000

ACTUAL 
COLLECTED

R’000

(OVER)/UNDER 
COLLECTION

R’000
Grants and subsidies 44 230 44 230 0 42 152 42 182 30

Sale of goods 28 5 (23) 27 11 (16)

Interest received 812 903 91 754 912 158

Other income - 61 61 25 25

Total 45 070 45 194 124 42 933 43 130 197

5.2 PROGRAMME EXPENDITURE

PROGRAMME

2014/15 2013/14

BUDGET

R’000

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R’000

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R’000

BUDGET

R’000

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R’000

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R’000
Programme 1: Operations & Research 11,627 11,622 5 13 981 13 132 849

Programme 2: Financial Management 8,954 8,672 282 7 747 8 250 (503)

Programme 3: Corporate Services 29,360 31,994 (2,634) 24 872 23 334 1 538

Total 49,941 52,288 (2,347) 46 600 44 716 1 885



Municipal Demarcation Board  Annual Report 2014/15 39

PART D

GOVERNANCE
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1. INTRODUCTION

The Municipal Demarcation Board (“the Board”) is an 
independent institution whose members are appointed 
for a term of five years.  Members of the Board, the 
Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson are appointed 
by the President of the Republic of South Africa after a 
selection process laid out in Section 8 of the Municipal 
Demarcation Act No 27 of 1998, for a term.   

The functions and general powers of the Board are detailed 
in the Local Government: Municipal Demarcation Act (No 
27 of 1998).  In terms of Section 155 of the Constitution, 
the Local Government:  Municipal Demarcation Act, 1998 
and the Local Government:  Municipal Structures Act, 
1998, it is an independent authority responsible for:

• The determination and redetermination of municipal 
boundaries 

• The delimitation of wards for local elections 

• The declaration of district management areas and 
the withdrawal of such declarations 

• The assessment of the capacity of district and local 
municipalities to perform their functions 

• The rendering of an advisory service in matters 
provided for in the applicable legislation.

In addition, Cabinet has mandated the Board to assist 
government departments to align their service delivery 
boundaries with municipal boundaries.

The Municipal Demarcation Board accepts that good 
corporate governance is essential to support the interests of its 
stakeholders.  The Board therefore always aspires to conduct 
its business with integrity and is committed to applying and 
enforcing appropriate corporate governance principles, 
policies and practices in accordance with the guidelines of the 
King Report on Corporate Governance, 2002.

2.  PORTFOLIO COMMITTEE

In terms of Section 39 of the Local Government:  Municipal 
Demarcation Act, 1998, the Municipal Demarcation Board 
is accountable to Parliament and must annually submit, 
to both Houses of Parliament, a written report on the 
activities of the Board. This report must be submitted 
within six months of the end of the financial year and 
must include audited financial statements.

The Municipal Demarcation Board was invited to brief the 
Portfolio Committee on Co-operative Governance and 
Traditional Affairs on two occasions during the year under 
review.  

3.  THE BOARD

Members of the Board, the Chairperson and Deputy 
Chairperson are appointed by the President of the Republic 
of South Africa after a selection process laid out in section 
8 of the Municipal Demarcation Act No 27 of 1998.  There 
is no limit to the number of terms a member of the Board 
may serve, but any reappointment of a member of the 
Board is subject to the conditions and procedures set out in 
section 8 of the Local Government:  Municipal Demarcation 
Act, No 27 of 1998 (“Demarcation Act”).  The Board must be 
impartial and perform its function without fear, favour or 
prejudice.  The Board operates either as a full Board through 
its Chairperson, or through a number of its committees.  

Board Charter

The Board is the focal point of the MDB’s corporate 
governance system and remains ultimately accountable 
and responsible for the performance and affairs of the 
MDB.  The Board is therefore committed to upholding good 
corporate governance in all of its business dealings with 
regard to its shareholders, regulatory authorities and other 
relevant stakeholders. 

To this end, the Board adopted the Board Charter.  The 
purpose of the Board Charter is to regulate how business is 
conducted by the Board in accordance with the principles 
of good corporate governance.  The Board Charter sets 
out the specific responsibilities to be discharged by the 
Board members collectively, and the individual roles 
expected of them.  The Board recognises that with regard 
to corporate governance, it is critical that substance 
prevails over form. In applying the principles contained 
in the Board Charter the Board will be guided by the 
principles and recommendations contained in the King 
III Report and established standards of best governance 
practice as well as the Code of Conduct contained in the 
Board Charter.

Composition of the Board

The Municipal Demarcation Board assumed office on 20 
February 2014, and will remain in office until 19 February 
2019. The Board comprises of nine members; one Board 
member resigned during May 2014. Membership is as 
follows:
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Composition of the Board

NAME DESIGNATION

DATE

OTHER COMMITTEES

NUMBER 
OF BOARD 
MEETINGS 
ATTENDEDAPPOINTED

RESIGNED/ 
TERM ENDED

Jane M Thupana
Board 

Chairperson
20 February 2014 Executive Committee 15

Ashraf M Adam
Deputy Board 
Chairperson

20 February 2014
Executive Committee; Boundaries, Powers & 

Functions Committee
13

Isobel E Konyn Board member 20 February 2014
Remuneration and Human Capital Committee; 

Policy and Research Committee
13

Lebina D Tsotetsi Board member 20 February 2014
Audit and Risk Committee; Boundaries, Powers & 

Functions Committee 
8

Nompumelelo ZH Mpofu Board member 20 February 2014
Remuneration and Human Capital Committee; 

Boundaries, Powers & Functions Committee; Policy 
and Research Committee

14

Simphiwe Dzengwa Board member 20 February 2014
Remuneration and Human Capital Committee; 

Boundaries, Powers & Functions Committee; Policy 
and Research Committee

13

Shivon D Wiggins Board member 20 February 2014
Remuneration and Human Capital Committee; 

Boundaries, Powers & Functions Committee; Policy 
and Research Committee

13

Maruping M Wildebees Board member 20 February 2014
Audit and Risk Committee; Remuneration and Human 

Capital Committee
9

Mmatsie S Mooki Board member 20 February 2014
Audit and Risk Committee; Boundaries, Powers & 

Functions Committee; Policy and Research Committee
14

Makhosi B Khoza Board member 20 February 2014 14 May 2014
Audit and Risk Committee; Boundaries, Powers & 

Functions Committee 
2

*The Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson of the Board are Ex-Officio members of all Committees of the Board in addition to being members of the Executive Committee.

Committees

COMMITTEE NO OF MEETINGS HELD NO OF MEMBERS NAME OF MEMBERS

Executive Committee 4 4

Jane M Thupana;
Simphiwe Dzengwa;

Nompumelelo ZH Mpofu;
Isobel Konyn

Audit and Risk Committee 6 5

Seth M Radebe*;
Dawood Coovadia*;

Maruping M Wildebees;
Lebina D Tsotetsi;

Simphiwe Dzengwa;
Mmatsie S Mooki

Remuneration and Human Capital Committee 8 5

Nompumelelo ZH Mpofu;
Shivon D Wiggins;

Isobel E Konyn;
Michael M Wildebees;
Simphiwe Dzengwa

Boundaries, Powers & Functions Committee 5 7

Simphiwe Dzengwa; 
Makhosi B Khoza;**

Nompumelelo ZH Mpofu;
Lebina D Tsotetsi;
Mmatsie S Mooki;
Shivon D Wiggins

Policy & Research Committee 2 4

Isobel E Konyn;
Nompumelelo ZH Mpofu;

Mmatsie S Mooki;
Shivon D Wiggins

*The term of Mr Seth M Radebe ended on 31 July 2014, The Board resolved to appoint Mr Dawood Coovadia on 01 September 2014.  
**Mr Makhosi B Khoza has since resigned from the Board.



Municipal Demarcation Board  Annual Report 2014/1542

BOARD

PROF ISOBEL KONYN MR SIMPHIWE DZENGWA 

MS JANE THUPANA
CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD

MR ASHRAF ADAM
DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON
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MS SHIVON WIGGINS MR LEBINA TSOTETSI MS MMATSIE MOOKI

MS NOMPUMELELO MPOFU MR MARUPING WILDEBEES
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT

In line with best practice, the Board has instituted a robust 
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process founded on a 
framework that is organisationally embedded, supported, 
assured and reviewed continuously.  ERM is the application 
of risk management throughout the Board rather than in 
selected business areas or disciplines only. Accordingly, 
risk management at the Board is decentralised, with every 
division of the Board responsible for risk management.

The Board’s Risk Management Framework lays out 
guiding principles for the Board’s management of risk. 
This framework comprises the totality of all the structures, 
policies, strategies and procedures within the Board that 
deal with risk management at the strategic or operational 
level. 

An assessment of the risks is undertaken annually. This 
process strives to achieve the identification of the critical 
risks the entity may face to enable the Board to formulate 
appropriate risk strategies and action plans to mitigate 
and address these risks where necessary. 

5. INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT

Internal control systems were introduced at the Board 
to provide management and the Board with confidence 
regarding its financial position and ensure the safeguarding 
of assets (including information) and compliance with 
related laws and regulations.  Our internal auditors 
monitor the functioning of the internal control systems 
and make recommendations to management and to the 
Audit and Risk Committee of the Board.

The Auditor-General has considered our internal 
control systems as part of his audit and identified some 
deficiencies. All internal control systems have inherent 

shortcomings, including the possibility of human error 
and the evasion or flouting of control measures.  Even 
the best internal control system may provide only partial 
assurance.

The Board’s internal control systems were designed to 
provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance as to 
the integrity and reliability of the financial statements; to 
safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of its assets 
and to detect fraud, potential liability, loss and material 
misstatement, while complying with applicable laws and 
regulations.

6. INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee is Mr 
Dawood Coovadia, an external member and a practising 
accountant and auditor. The table below discloses relevant 
information on the Audit and Risk Committee members:

The internal audit function is an independent appraisal 
mechanism which evaluates the Board’s procedures and 
systems (including internal control, disclosure procedures 
and information system), ensuring that these continue 
to function effectively. During the year under review, the 
internal audit function carried out its audits in terms of an 
approved internal audit plan.  

7. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS

The following legislations are applicable:

• Local Government: Municipal Demarcation Act No 27 
of 1998, as amended

• Local Government: Municipal Structures Act No 117 
of 1998

Audit Committee Members

NAME INTERNAL OR 
EXTERNAL

IF INTERNAL, 
POSITION IN THE 
PUBLIC ENTITY

APPOINTED RESIGNED/TERM 
ENDED

NUMBER OF 
MEETINGS 
ATTENDED

Seth M Radebe External Independent 01 February 2010 31 July 2014 3

Dawood Coovadia External Independent 01 September 2014 3

Lebina D Tsotetsi External Board member 14 March 2014 4

Maruping M Wildebees External Board member 14 March 2014 3

Mmatsie S Mooki External Board member 14 March 2014 6

Simphiwe Dzengwa External Board member 14 March 2014 3
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• Local Government: Municipal Systems Act No 32 of 
2000

• Generally Recognised Accepted Practice

• Income Tax Act No 58 of 1962

• Value-Added Tax Act No 89 of 1991

• Public Finance Management Act No 1 of 1999, as 
amended

• Treasury Regulations, March 2005, issued in terms of 
the PFMA

• Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act No 5 
of 2000

• All practice notes on Supply Chain Management Act

• Employment Equity Act No 55 of 1998

• Basic Conditions of Employment Act No 75 of 1997

• Labour Relations Act No 88 of 1998

• Promotion of Administrative Justice Act No 1 of 2000

• Promotion of Access to Information Act No 2 of 2000

8. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

The Board irrevocably binds itself to combating all forms 
of fraud and corruption and to remaining proactive in the 
fight against fraud and other “white collar” crime.  During 
the year under review the Fraud Prevention Policy and the 
Fraud Prevention Plan were reviewed. 

The Fraud Prevention Policy provides for a system 
of internal controls to prevent and detect fraud and 
corruption.  The system of internal controls include, 
among others, creating awareness, policies and 
procedures, segregation of duties, internal audit, on-
going risk assessment and a mechanism for reporting 
and monitoring allegations.  

In this regard the Board, through the Audit and Risk 
Committee, monitors and reviews business risk relating to 
fraud and corruption.  Moreover, the Board makes use of 
the Public Service Commission’s National Anti-Corruption 
Hotline as a reporting channel. 

A forensic investigation was initiated by the Board into 
alleged tender irregularities. The matter was still in 
progress at the date of this report.

9. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The Board has developed procedures to prevent and 
minimise conflict of interest.  On an annual basis, Board 
members and Board employees are required to disclose 

their financial interest, including those of close family 
members.  Such disclosure ensures that there is no 
conflict of interest when decisions are made by anyone 
within its governance structure.

Furthermore, meeting procedures of the Board provide 
for recusal of a Board member or employee if there is a 
perceived or actual conflict of interest.

In addition, the Board members also complete the 
Declaration of Interest Register in all Board and 
Committee meetings to declare conflict of interest.  

10. BOARD CHARTER 

The Board has in place an approved Board Charter that 
includes a Code of Conduct for Board members. The Board 
Charter addresses, among others, the role of the Board, 
terms of reference of Board committees, governance of 
Board meetings, communications and a Code of Ethics. 

Included in the Board Charter is a Code of Conduct for 
Board members. This code is based on principles of 
honesty and integrity.  It serves as a guide to Board 
members with regards to the protection of organisational 
assets and information as well as conflicts of interest.

11. BOARD SECRETARY

The Board identified a need during the third quarter to 
clearly define and differentiate the functions of the Head: 
Legal and Secretariat. Thus, a position of Board/Company 
Secretary and Head: Legal have been created in the 
organisational structure in order to enhance the systems, 
procedures and processes of the Board. The Board Secretary 
will thus be wholly responsible to give support to the Board 
in order to maximise the efficiency of the Board as well as 
to ensure that the Board conducts its business according to 
good corporate governance and practice.

The Board/Company Secretary, located within the Office 
of the Chairperson, is responsible for the operations of the 
Board including secretarial and administrative support. In 
compliance with good corporate governance, the Board 
Secretary also facilitates self-assessment of the Board and 
its committees, as well as financial disclosures by the Board. 
The responsibilities attached to this position are primarily 
of a strategic nature and also incorporates all matters 
pertaining to Corporate Governance and adherence to the 
legislative imperatives that emanate from compliance with 
King III Report.
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12. AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2015.

The Audit and Risk Committee (The Committee) is an 
independent sub-committee of the Board.  Further duties 
are delegated to the Audit and Risk Committee by the 
Board and these activities and duties were effectively 
discharged during the year.  This report includes both 
these sets of duties and responsibilities.

1.  Audit and Risk Committee Charter 

The Audit and Risk Committee has adopted a formal 
Audit and Risk Committee Charter approved by the Board.  
The Committee has conducted its affairs in compliance 
with its Charter and has discharged the responsibilities 
contained therein.  The Audit and Risk Committee Charter 
is available on request.

2.  Audit and Risk Committee members, meeting 
attendance and assessment

The Committee met six times during the 2014/15 financial 
year, in line with the approved Audit and Risk Committee 
Charter. It consists of the members listed below:

MEMBER TERM OF OFFICE
NUMBER OF 
MEETINGS 
ATTENDED

Seth M Radebe (Chairperson) Term ended 31 July 
2014

3

Dawood Coovadia (Chairperson) Appointed 01 
September 2014

3

Lebina D Tsotetsi Appointed 14 
March 2014

4

Maruping M Wildebees Appointed 14 
March 2014

3

Mmatsie S Mooki Appointed 14 
March 2014

6

Simphiwe Dzengwa Appointed 14 
March 2014

3

The effectiveness of the Audit and Risk Committee and its 
individual members are assessed annually.

3. Role and responsibilities

3.1. Statutory duties

The Committee reports that it has operated and performed 
its oversight responsibilities in compliance with Section 
51(1)(a) of the PFMA and Treasury Regulations 27.1.8.  The 
Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory committee of the 
organisation, operating independently and objectively. 

Evaluation of Annual Financial Statements

The Audit and Risk Committee has:

• reviewed and discussed the audited Annual Financial 
Statements included in the Annual Report with the 
Auditor-General and the Accounting Authority; 

• reviewed the Auditor-General’s audit report, the 
management letter and management’s responses 
thereto; and

• reviewed accounting policies and practices.

The Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of 
the Auditor-General on the Annual Financial Statements 
and is of the opinion that the audited financial statements 
be accepted. The Committee agrees that the adoption of 
the going concern premise is appropriate in preparing 
the Annual Financial Statements.

The Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied itself 
that the external auditor, Auditor-General (AGSA), 
was independent of the organisation. This includes 
consideration to the extent of other work undertaken 
by the AGSA and compliance with criteria relating to 
independence or conflicts of interest as prescribed by the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors. 

The Committee, in consultation with the Accounting 
Officer, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, strategic 
audit plan and recommended the budgeted audit fees for 
the 2014/15financial year to the Accounting Officer. The 
Committee confirms that there were no non-audit services 
provided by the external auditor for the period under review. 

Effectiveness of Internal Controls

The Audit and Risk Committee has overseen a process 
by which internal audit performed a written assessment 
of the effectiveness of the institution’s system of internal 
control and risk management. This written assessment 
by internal audit formed the basis for the Audit and Risk 
Committee’s recommendation in this regard to the Board.
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In line with the PFMA and the Treasury Regulations, 
internal audit provides the Committee and management 
with the assurance that internal controls are appropriate 
and effective. This is achieved by means of the risk 
management process as well as the identification of 
corrective action and suggested enhancements to the 
controls and processes. 

A formal risk assessment was undertaken by the institution 
during the financial year under review. Consequently, 
internal audit used this data to prepare a three year rolling 
strategic plan and an annual audit plan. Management 
is committed to addressing the issues raised by internal 
and external auditors, and these are reviewed by the 
Committee during its meetings.

Accordingly, the Committee can report that the system 
of internal control over financial reporting for the period 
under review was efficient and effective.

Whistle Blowing

The Audit and Risk Committee receives and deals with any 
concern or complaints, whether from within or outside 
the organisation.  There were no matters that came to the 
attention of the Committee during the year under review.

3.2. Duties assigned by the Board

As reported above, in addition to its statutory duties the 
Board has determined further functions for the Audit and 
Risk Committee to perform, as set out in the Audit and Risk 
Committee’s Charter.  These functions include the following:

Corporate Governance

The Audit and Risk Committee is of the opinion that the 
institution complies with sound principles of corporate 
governance.

Governance of Risk

The Audit and Risk Committee fulfils an oversight role 
regarding institutional risk management processes. The 
Committee monitored any significant risks faced by the 
institution and is satisfied that these risks were managed 
effectively.  The organisation implements a risk management 
strategy which includes a fraud prevention plan.

In year Management and Quarterly Reports in terms of 
the Public Finance Management Act 

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that during the 
year under review the content and quality of quarterly 
reports prepared and issued by management were proper 
and in compliance with the PFMA. 

Internal Audit

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for ensuring 
that the organisation’s internal audit function, which 
is outsourced, is independent and has the necessary 
resources, standing and authority within the institution 
to enable it to discharge its duties. Furthermore, the 
Committee oversees cooperation between the internal 
and external auditors, and serves as a link between the 
Board and these functions.  

The Committee considered and approved the Internal 
Audit Charter and is satisfied that the internal audit plan 
was executed accordingly.

The internal audit function reports centrally, with 
responsibility for reviewing and providing assurance on 
the adequacy of the internal control environment across 
all of the organisation’s operations. The Internal Audit 
Resource is responsible for reporting the findings of the 
internal audit work against the agreed internal audit plan 
to the Audit and Risk Committee on a regular basis.  The 
Internal Auditors have direct access to the Audit and Risk 
Committee, primarily through its Chairperson.

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the 
internal audit function is operating effectively and that 
it has addressed the risks pertinent to the institution in 
its audits. The Committee believes that internal audit 
has contributed to the improvement of internal controls 
within the institution.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee

Mr Dawood Coovadia CA (SA)
Chairperson:  Audit and Risk Committee
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PART E

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
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1. INTRODUCTION

The Human Resources and Administration Unit is a critical 
component of the Corporate Services Division. It provides 
support services to the Board and staff.

The Unit therefore maintained and implemented the 
organisation’s strategic objectives and goals for the period 
under review and aims to create a productive and creative 
working environment that enhances organisational 
effectiveness through its workforce.

However, it has been recognised that the human resources 
for the organisation has limited capacity and skills. 

Human Resources Strategy and Plan

The Board subsequently requested that a comprehensive 
Human Resources strategy and operational plan, 
incorporating an overview of human resource priorities, 
be developed. This plan also needed to be aligned with 
the broader Organisational Strategic Plan.

Key priorities to be encapsulated in the Human Resources 
strategy and plan include an overview of human resource 
capability and capacity, a GAP analysis depicting resource 
and skills constraints, and their projected impact on 
organisational performance. Consequently, there will be 
a need to develop a phased human resource and skills 
development strategy in line with the budget. Other 
priorities include a Performance Management System 
and employee wellness programmes. 

Staff

The staff complement of the MDB amounts to 46 
employees. This includes eight interns and eight 
contract employees. During the same period there 
were five appointments and six terminations. Of the six 
terminations, five resigned and one parted ways with the 
MDB amicably. Two staff members (Head: Research and 
Head:  Stakeholder Management and Communications) 
were employed on three year contracts and three 
interns were appointed on two year contracts. In the 
year under review, the CEO was on suspension pending 
an investigation of alleged misconduct. The matter was 
resoved amicably and her services terminated on 31 
October 2014. A CEO position was temporarily filled in an 
acting capacity. Even with these appointments, the core 
and support units need to be capacitated to discharge 

the mandate effectively. The thin staff complement has 
resulted in the three divisions experiencing extreme work 
pressure to reach designated targets within the legislated 
and prescribed time periods. 

Provident fund

A provident fund (Combi Risk Provident Fund) with Sanlam 
was introduced during the financial year under review. By 
the end of the year, 34 staff members had joined the Combi 
Risk Provident Fund. A maximum permissible percentage 
of 7.5% is deductible from individual employee’s monthly 
salaries. Employees retain the prerogative to request a 
smaller percentage deduction from their salaries every 
month, to a minimum of 5%. This is based on individual 
affordability.

Relocation and travel allowance

The Board relocated its premises from Arcadia to 
Centurion in July 2014. This resulted in certain employees 
incurring additional travel costs as a result of the greater 
distance to be covered in reaching Centurion. The Board 
subsequently resolved to pay a travel allowance.

Employee health and wellness

Four employee health and wellness interventions were 
conducted during the period under review, i.e., one per 
quarter (work/life balance, personal crisis management, 
skills for career success). A general medical health risk 
assessment was held in the last quarter as part of the 
Employee Health and Wellness Programme.

Training

Following a Board decision to develop a human 
resource strategy, all training was suspended pending 
the finalisation of the human resource strategy and the 
development of a human resource plan that includes a 
skills audit.
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Performance management

The MDB is currently using a manual Performance 
Management system, and will be implementing an 
automated system in the new financial year.

Leave reconciliation

Leave is processed daily and is also captured and reconciled 
every month by the VIP ESS Leave Administrator. It is 
critically important that all leave taken during a particular 
month be captured accurately because this has a direct 
impact on the payroll. 

Travel and accommodation management

The volume of travel and accommodation arranged on 
behalf of both Board and staff members has increased 
substantially during the period under review because the 
Board is currently engaged in the ward delimitation process 
in preparation for the local government elections of 2016.  

Document management

The Board has introduced a new Document Management 
System, viz., Papertrail. The system is functional and users 
have been trained to operate the system. 
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2.  HUMAN RESOURCES OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

Personnel cost by programme

PROGRAMME
TOTAL 

EXPENDITURE FOR 
THE ENTITY

R’000

PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE

R’000

PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE 

AS A % OF TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE

%

NO OF EMPLOYEES

AVERAGE 
PERSONNEL COST 

PER EMPLOYEE

R’000
Operations and Research 11 635 218 7 877 670 68% 17 463 392 

Finance 8 699 897 4 822 627 56% 10 482 263 

Corporate Services 31 949 539 7 381 170 23% 19 388 483 

TOTAL 52 284 654 20 081 467 38% 46 436 554

Personnel cost by salary band

LEVEL
PERSONNEL 

EXPENDITURE

R

% OF PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE TO TOTAL 

PERSONNEL COST

R

NO OF EMPLOYEES
AVERAGE PERSONNEL 
COST PER EMPLOYEE

R
Top management 4 589 627 23% 3 1 529 876

Senior management 4 046 279 20% 6 674 380

Professionally qualified 2 849 584 14% 7 407 083

Skilled 5 600 255 25% 14 400 018

Subtotal permanent employees 17 085 745 85% 30 566 655
Fixed term contract employees 2 417 792 13% 8 302 224

Internship programme 577 930 3% 8 72 241

Subtotal contract employees 2 995 722 15% 16 187 233
GRAND TOTAL 20 081 146 100% 46 487 809

Performance rewards

LEVEL PERFORMANCE REWARDS

R

PERSONNEL EXPENDITURE

R

% OF PERFORMANCE REWARDS TO 
TOTAL PERSONNEL COST

R
Top management 0 4 589 627 0%

Senior management 0 4 046 279 0%

Professionally qualified 93 064 2 849 584 3%

Skilled 107 266 5 600 255 2%

TOTAL 200 330 17 085 745  5%

* Management did not participate in performance rewards.

Training costs

DIVISION
PERSONNEL 

EXPENDITURE

R

TRAINING EXPENDITURE

R

TRAINING EXPENDITURE 
AS A % OF PERSONNEL 

COST

%

NO OF TRAINING 
SESSIONS

Operations and Research 7 877 670 10 590 0,1% 1

Finance 4 822 627 18 867 0,4% 6

Corporate services 7 381 170 *202 273 2,7% 69

TOTAL 20 081 467 231 730 3,27% 76

* An amount of R104 013 was paid in the 2014/15 financial year, but the training took place in the 2013/14 financial year
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Employment and vacancies

PROGRAMME
2013/14 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

2014/15 

APPROVED POSTS

2014/15 

VACANCIES % OF VACANCIES
Operations and Research 11 15 -2 -13%

Finance 8 10 -3 -30%

Corporate Services 11 18 -4 -22%

TOTAL 30 43 -9 -21%

LEVEL
2013/14 

NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYEES

2014/15 

APPROVED POSTS

2014/15

NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYEES

2014/15 

VACANCIES % OF VACANCIES

Top management 5 5 3 2 40%

Senior management 5 6 6 0 0%

Professionally qualified/ Skilled 32 32 29 9 28%

subtotal permanent employees 42 43 38 11 26%

Fixed term contract employees   
Internship programme 7  8   

subtotal contract employees 7 8   

Grand total 49 43 46 11  

Employee changes

LEVEL APPOINTMENTS TERMINATIONS
Top management 0 2

Senior management 2 0

Professionally qualified 0 0

Skilled 0 1

Subtotal permanent employees 2 3
Fixed term contract employees 0 0

Internship programme 3 3

Subtotal contract employees 3 3
Grand total 5 6

Reasons for staff leaving

REASON NUMBER % OF TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF LEAVING
Death 0 0%

Resignation 4 9%

Dismissal 0 0%

Retirement 0 0%

Ill health 0 0%

Expiry of contract 0 0%

Other 2 4%

TOTAL 6 13%
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Labour relations:  misconduct and disciplinary action

NATURE OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION NUMBER
Verbal warning 0

Written warning 0

Final written warning 0

Dismissal 0

Equity target and employment equity status

LEVEL
MALE

AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE
CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET

Top management 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Senior management 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 0

Professionally qualified 4 0 0 1 0 1 0 0

Skilled 9 0 0 2 1 1 2 1

TOTAL 17 1 0 5 2 2 2 1

LEVEL
FEMALE

AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE
CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET

Top management 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 1

Senior management 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 0

Professionally qualified 3 3 0 2 0 1 1 0

Skilled 13 0 1 0 1 0 1 0

TOTAL 18 4 1 4 2 2 3 1

LEVEL
STAFF WITH DISABILITIES

MALE FEMALE

CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET
Top management 0 1 0 1

Senior management 0 1 0 1

Professionally qualified 0 1 0 1

Skilled 0 1 0 2

TOTAL 0 4 0 5



PART F

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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1.  STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the public entity’s Annual Financial Statements and for 
the judgements made in this information.  

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control designed to 
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the Annual Financial Statements.  

In my opinion the financial statements fairly reflect the operations of the public entity for the financial year ended 31 
March 2015.  

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion of the Annual Financial Statements of the 
Municipal Demarcation Board.  

The Annual Financial Statements of the Municipal Demarcation Board as set out in Part G of this Annual Report have 
been approved.  

Statement of Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

Mr Aluwani Ramagadza
Acting Chief Executive Officer
Municipal Demarcation Board

16 July 2015

Ms M Mahlangu
Acting Chief Financial Officer 
Municipal Demarcation Board
16 July 2015
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2. REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

GENERAL FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Board received government grants and subsidies for the year amounting to R44 230 000. Income generated from sale 
of maps, interest earned from investments and other income amounted to R942 000. The total revenue for the current 
financial year is R45 172 000, compared to R43 130 000 in 2013/14. This represents a year-on-year growth of 4.8%.

The total expenditure for the year amounted to R52 424 000  resulting in a deficit of R7 252 000.  

The deficit will be funded through accumulated surpluses.

SPENDING TRENDS

The table below presents year-on-year change in expenditure and income trends:

YEAR-ON-YEAR EXPENDITURE 
TRENDS

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

R’000 % R’000 % R’000 % R’000 % R’000 %

Income 37 879 7% 39 123 3% 41 323 6% 43 130 4% 45 172 5%

Voted funds 37 187 8% 38 482 3% 40 397 5% 42 182 4% 44 230 5%

Other income 692 -5% 641 -7% 926 44% 948 2% 942 -1%

Expenditure 35 977 30% 35 812 0% 34 351 -4% 44 712 30% 52 304 17%

Board members' remuneration 1 692 68% 2 020 19% 2 606 29% 2 433 -7% 2 670 10%

Salaries 11 322 6% 12 061 7% 13 084 8% 17 991 38% 20 082 12%

Project expenses 3 580 734% 4 943 38% 3 280 -34% 3 759 15% 2 620 -30%

Lease payments 2 311 1% 2 311 0% 2 311 0% 2 311 0% 3 662 58%

Publications notices and gazettes 5 984 6% 2 002 -67% 2 173 9% 2 806 29% 236 -92%

Audit fees 923 -8% 797 -14% 819 3% 923 13% 1 075 16%

Travelling costs 2 161 29% 2 691 25% 2 738 2% 3 538 29% 4 451 26%

Other operating expenses 8 004 64% 8 987 12% 7 340 -18% 10 951 49% 17 508 60%

Surplus for the period 1 902 3 311 6 972 (1 582) (7 132)

DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES/ACTIVITIES TO BE DISCONTINUED

The MDB did not assess the capacity of metropolitan, district and local municipalities in the period under review. 
Historically during an election period the institution defers some programmes, such as capacity assessment, to ease 
the burden on its budget. 

NEW ACTIVITIES

There are a number of activities that commenced late in the 2014/15 Financial Year and will continue to be implemented 
in the 2015/16 Financial Year these are:

• Perform municipal capacity assessments through research and knowledge management and to better inform 
redetermination and delimitation decisions.

• Manage stakeholders to achieve greater public participation, awareness, involvement and understanding of 
redetermination, delimitation and municipal capacity assessment processes.
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OTHER MATTERS

MATTERS RAISED BY THE AUDITOR- 
GENERAL IN 2013-14

MANAGEMENT ACTION IMPLEMENTED
STATUS (RESOLVED, PARTIALLY RESOLVED 

OR UNRESOLVED)

Non-compliance to SCM processes
A compliance checklist was 
implemented

Resolved

Payments not made within 30 days

30 days payment register 
implemented to monitor all 
payments not made within 
stipulated period.

Partially Resolved

Indicators not well defined
Technical indicator descriptions were 
added for all indicators.

Resolved

Pre-determined indicators and 
targets not specific

Technical descriptions were included 
for all indicators in the 2014/15 APP 
during mid-term reviews.

Resolved

Quarterly reports were not prepared 
and approved within 30 days of the 
end of each quarter

Quarter 1 reports were delayed due 
to lack of capacity.  

Partially Resolved

The above activities influence and affect the financial 
resource requirements of the MDB. These include:

a) Conducting organisational reviews so the MDB has 
in place an optimal structure that is supportive of its 
strategy.

b) Developing and implementing a communication 
and public education programme that increases 
awareness and understanding of the MDB’s roles 
and services among all sectors of South Africa’s 
population.

c) Improving the marketing and, particularly, the 
positioning of the MDB, through a national footprint.

d) Developing the MDB as a repository of spatial and 
demarcation data.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT (SCM)

Concluded unsolicited bid proposal for the year 
under review

None.

SCM processes and systems in place

The institution has a Supply Chain Management Unit 
located within the Finance Division, in accordance with 
the approved organisational structure.  

Procurement activities are supported by three committees, 
viz., the Bid Specification Committee, Bid Evaluation 
Committee and Bid Adjudication Committee.  An Annual 
Procurement Plan is in place to guide the activities of the 
Unit.  

AUDIT REPORT MATTERS IN THE PREVIOUS 
YEAR

In his 2013/14 Report, the Auditor-General raised certain 
matters of emphasis. During the year, management 
implemented controls to address the weaknesses 
identified. Management actions to resolve the matters 
raised by the Auditor-General are addressed below: 
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ECONOMIC VIABILITY

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis since there is every reason to believe that the 
Board has adequate resources to continue to operate for the foreseeable future.  

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The performance results achieved during the year would not have been possible without the support, oversight and 
guidance of the Board’s leadership and members. I also wish to thank the employees of the Municipal Demarcation Board 
whose dedication and determination have made it possible to serve our country and contribute towards our vision.

Mr Aluwani Ramagadza
Acting Chief Executive Officer
Municipal Demarcation Board

16 July 2015



Municipal Demarcation Board  Annual Report 2014/15 59

3.  REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

1. I have audited the financial statements of the Municipal Demarcation Board set out on pages 61 to 84, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2015, the statement of financial performance, statement 
of changes in net assets, and cash flow statement and the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts 
for the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

Accounting Officer’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) and the 
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act no. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such 
internal control as the accounting officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical 
requirements, and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 
opinion.

Opinion 

6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Municipal 
Demarcation Board as at 31 March 2015 and its  financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in 
accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

Emphasis of matters

7. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters. 
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Significant uncertainties

8. With reference to note 22 to the financial statements, the entity is a defendant in various lawsuits involving Midvaal 
Municipality and the re-determination of boundaries affecting the said municipality.  The ultimate outcomes of 
this matter cannot be presently be determined and no provision for any liability that may result has been made in 
the annual financial statements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

9. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) and the general notice issued 
in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report findings on the reported performance information against 
predetermined objectives for selected programmes presented in the annual performance report, non-compliance 
with legislation and internal control. The objective of my tests was to identify reportable findings as described 
under each subheading but not to gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, I do not 
express an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives

10. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following selected programmes presented in the annual performance report of the department 
for the year ended 31 March 2015:

• Programme 1: Operations and Research on pages 30 to 31

• Programme 3: Corporate Services  on pages 33 to 35

11. I evaluated the reported performance information against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. 

12. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was presented in 
accordance with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance was 
consistent with the planned programmes. I further performed tests to determine whether indicators and targets 
were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by the National Treasury’s 
Framework for managing programme performance information (FMPPI).

13. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and 
complete.

14. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information 
for selected programmes. 

Additional matter

15. Although I identified no material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information 
for the selected programmes, I draw attention to the following matter. 

Achievement of planned targets

16. Refer to the annual performance report on page(s) 26 to 29 and 30 to 36 for information on the achievement of 
the planned targets for the year. 
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Compliance with legislation

17. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the department had complied with applicable legislation regarding 
financial matters, financial management and other related matters. My findings on material non-compliance with 
specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general notice issued in terms of the PAA, are as follows:

Annual financial statements

18. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial 
reporting framework as required by section 40(1)(b) of the PFMA. 

19. Material misstatements of the disclosure items identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statement 
were subsequently corrected and the supporting records were provided subsequently, resulting in the financial 
statements receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

Procurement and Contract Management

20. Contracts were extended without the approval of a properly delegated official as required by Treasury Regulation 
8.1 and 8.2.

21. Deviations were approved by the accounting officer and management even though it was not impractical to 
invite competitive bids in contravention of Treasury Regulation 16A6.4

Expenditure management

22. The accounting officer did not take effective steps to prevent irregular expenditure, as required by section 51(1)(b)
(ii) of the PFMA.

Internal control

23. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, annual performance report and 
compliance with legislation. The matters reported below are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies 
that resulted in findings on the annual performance report and the findings on non-compliance with legislation 
included in this report. 

Leadership

24. The accounting officer and management did not exercise adequate oversight responsibility regarding financial 
reporting, compliance and internal controls.

25. The accounting officer and management did not adequately monitor the implementation of action plans to 
address internal controls deficiencies.

 Financial and performance management

26. Management did not prepare regular, accurate and complete financial reports that are supported and evidenced 
by reliable information.
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27.  Management did not adequately review and monitor compliance with applicable laws and regulations  

Investigation

28. An investigation was conducted by an independent legal firm regarding disciplinary process of the former CEO. 
This matter was concluded and her contract terminated during October 2014.

29. A forensic investigation was initiated by the Board into alleged tender irregularities involving senior management 
of the Board.  The matter was still in progress as at the date of this report.

Auditor-General
Pretoria
31 July 2015
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Financial Position 

Statement of Financial Performance 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

Cash Flow Statement 

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

Accounting Policies 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 

PART G
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NOTES
2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Assets

Current Assets

Inventories 3 372 228

Receivables from exchange transactions 4 109 438

Cash and cash equivalents 5 17 095 27 233

17 576 27 899

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 6 4 371 2 381

Intangible assets 7 969 1 013

5 340 3 394

Total Assets 22 916 31 293

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Operating lease liability 474 38

Payables from exchange transactions 8 2 007 2 930

Provisions 9 2 044 2 682

4 525 5 650

Total Liabilities 4 525 5 650

Net Assets 18 391 25 643

Accumulated surplus 18 391 25 643

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 2015
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
for the year ended 31 March 2015

NOTES
2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions

Sale of goods 5 11

Other exchange revenue 34 25

Interest received - investment 903 912

Total revenue from exchange transactions 942 948

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Transfer revenue

Government grants 10 44 230 42 182

Total revenue 11 45 172 43 130

Expenditure

Employee Costs 12 (20 082) (17 991)

Audit Fees 13 (1 075) (923)

Depreciation and amortisation 14 (1 567) (1 118)

Project Expenses 15 (2 620) (3 759)

Other operating expenses 16 (9 181) (6 143)

Administrative Costs 17 (17 760) (14 782)

Total expenditure (52 285) (44 716)

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of assets 18 (139) 4

Deficit for the period (7 252) (1 582)
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ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS

R’000

TOTAL NET  
ASSETS
R’000

Balance at 31 March 2013 27 225 27 225

Surplus for the year (1 582) (1 582)

Total changes (1 582) (1 582)

Balance at 31 March 2014 25 643 25 643

Deficit for the year (7 252) (7 252)

Total changes (7 252) (7 252)

Balance at 31 March 2015 18 391 18 391

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
for the year ended 31 March 2015
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2015

NOTES
2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Revenue from exchange transactions 974 941

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 44 230 42 182

45 204 43 123

Payments

Employee benefit costs (20 016) (17 155)

Suppliers (31 673) (23 298)

(51 689) (40 453)

Net cash flows from operating activities 20 (6 485) 2 670

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 6 (3 496) (327)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6 (7) 80

Purchase of intangible assets 7 (182) (362)

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 7 32 -

Net cash flows from investing activities (3 653) (609)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (10 138) 2 061

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 27 233 25 172

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 5 17 095 27 233
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APPROVED 
BUDGET

R’000
ADJUSTMENTS

R’000

FINAL 
BUDGET

R’000

ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS ON 
COMPARABLE 

BASIS
R’000

DIFFERENCE 
BETWEEN 

FINAL BUDGET 
AND ACTUAL

R’000

Statement of Financial Performance

Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions

Sale of goods 28 - 28 5 (23)

Other exchange revenue - - - 34 34

Interest received - investment 812 - 812 903 91

Total revenue from exchange transactions 840 - 840 942 102

 

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Government grants & subsidies 44 230 - 44 230 44 230 -

Total revenue 45 070 - 45 070 45 172 102

Expenditure

Employee costs (22 605) - (22 605) (20 082) 2 523

Administration (1 000) - (1 000) (1 075) (75)

Depreciation and amortisation - - - (1 567) (1 567) 

Project expenses (1 945) - (1 945) (2 620) (675) 

Other operating expenses (8 531) - (8 531) (9 181) (650) 

Administrative costs (15 728) - (15 728) (17 760) (2 032)

Total expenditure (49 809) - (49 809) (52 285) (2 476) 

Operating deficit (4 739) - (4 739) (7 110) (2 374)

Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities - - - (139) (139)

Surplus/(deficit) (4 739) - (4 739) (7 252) (2 513)

Actual Amount on Comparable Basis 
as Presented in the Budget and Actual 
Comparative Statement (4 739) - (4 739) (7 252) (2 513)

STATEMENT OF  
COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
for the year ended 31 March 2015
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for the year ended 31 March 2015

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.  PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board including any interpretations, guidelines 
and directives issued by the Accounting Standard Board.

These financial statements have been prepared on an 
accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with 
historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, 
unless specified otherwise.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which 
have been consistently applied in the preparation of 
these financial statements, are disclosed below.

1.1   Presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in South African 
Rand and are rounded to the nearest thousand (R’000).

1.2   Critical Accounting Estimates  and Judgements in 
Applying Accounting Policies

The Board makes estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the current and subsequent financial years. Estimates 
and judgments are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

There does, however, not appear to be a significant risk 
that these assumptions will cause significant adjustments 
to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the 
subsequent financial years.

Significant judgements include:

Fair value estimation

The carrying value of trade receivables and payables are 
assumed to approximate their fair values.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 
and individual assets have been determined based on 
the higher of value-in-use calculations and fair values 

less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of 
estimates and assumptions. The entity reviews and tests 
the carrying value of assets when events or changes in 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount not be 
recoverable.

Contingent liability

A contingent liabilities are disclosed when the Board has 
a possible obligation that arose from past events whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the Board.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

The Board re-assesses the useful lives and residual lives of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets on 
an annual basis. In reassessing the useful lives and residual 
values of property, plant and equipment management 
considers the condition and use of the individual assets, 
to determine the remaining period over which the asset 
can and will be used.

1.3   Property,  plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use 
in the production or supply of goods or services, rental to 
others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected 
to be used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the  
entity; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted 
in arriving at the cost.
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Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their 
estimated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life

Furniture and fixtures 10 -15 years 

Motor vehicles 5 - 10 years 

Office equipment 5 - 10 years 

IT equipment 3 - 9 years 

Leasehold improvements 5 years

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation 
method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each  
reporting date. If the expectations differ from previous 
estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate.

Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis 
does not require the entity to amend the previous 
estimate unless expectations differ from the previous 
estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of 
the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised 
in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the 
use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus 
or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the 
carrying amount of the item.

1.4   Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it either:

• is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or 
divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, 
rented or exchanged, either individually or together 
with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, 
regardless of whether the entity intends to do so; or

• arises from binding arrangements (including rights 
from contracts), regardless of whether those rights 
are transferable or separable from the entity or from 
other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic 
benefits or service potential that are attributable to 
the asset will flow to the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured 
reliably.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date. 
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible 
assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as 
follows: 

Item Useful life

Computer software 3 - 9 years

Intangible assets are derecognised:

• on disposal; or

• when no future economic benefits or service 
potential are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is recognised 
in surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.

1.5   Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the 
ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and 
operating decisions or if the related party entity and 
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another party are subject to common control. Related 
parties include individuals who have significant influence 
over the Board, such as members of the Board and key 
management personnel.

1.6   Going Concern

These financial statements have been prepared on 
the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. The basis presumes that funds will be available 
to finance future operations and that the realisation of the 
assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations 
and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of 
business.

The ability of the Board to continue as a going concern is 
dependent upon further funding from Parliament.

1.7   Budget information

The Board are typically subject to budgetary limits in 
the form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or 
equivalent), which is given effect through authorising 
legislation, appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by entity shall 
provide information on whether resources were obtained 
and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The approved budget is prepared on a cash basis 
and presented by functional classification linked to 
performance outcome objectives.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period 
from 2014-04-01 to 2015-03-31.

The financial statements and the budget are on the same 
basis of accounting therefore a comparison with the 
budgeted amounts for the reporting period have been 
included in the Statement of Comparison of Budget and 
Actual Amounts .

1.8   Financial  instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a 
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a 
residual interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
is the amount at which the financial asset or financial 
liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal 
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation 
using the effective interest method of any difference 
between that initial amount and the maturity amount, 
and minus any reduction (directly or through the use of 
an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument 
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised 
financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s 
statement of financial position .

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:

• cash;

• a residual interest of another entity; or

• a contractual right to:

- receive cash or another financial asset from 
another entity; or

- exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 
with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially favourable to the entity.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual 
obligation to:

• deliver cash or another financial asset to another 
entity; or

• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under 
conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the  
entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the 
event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or 
another financial asset.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has 
failed to make a payment when contractually due.
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Classification

The Board’s principal financial instruments are receivables, 
cash and cash equivalents and payables.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the 
financial instrument were obtained / incurred and takes 
place at initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed on 
an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets 
designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit, 
which shall not be classified out of the fair value through 
surplus or deficit category.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. The entity classifies financial instruments, 
or their component parts, on initial recognition as a 
financial asset, a financial liability, or an equity instrument 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, 
except for equity investments for which a fair value is 
not determinable, which are measured at cost and are 
classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities.

The entity measures all financial assets and financial 
liabilities after initial recognition using the following 
categories:

• Financial instruments at fair value.

• Financial instruments at cost.

All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are 
subject to an impairment review.

Receivables from exchange transactions

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at 
fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate 
alowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 
recognised in surplus or deficit when there is objective 

evidence that the asset is impaired.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.

Payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently 
recorded at fair value.

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, as well as 
Statement of Financial Position, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash on hand and other short-term investments.

Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets

At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses 
all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
has been impaired. Impairment losses are recognised in 
surplus or deficit.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in 
the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, subject to the restriction that the 
carrying amount of the financial asset at the date the 
impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the  
carrying amount would have been had the impairment 
not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in surplus 
or deficit except for equity investments classified as 
available-for-sale.
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1.9   Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it 
does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership.

Operating  leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term . The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 
contractual payments are recognised as an operating 
lease liability.

1.10 Inventories

Inventories are initially measured at cost except where 
inventories are acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, then their costs are their fair value as at the 
date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current 
replacement cost where they are held for:

• distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge; or

• consumption in the production process of goods to 
be distributed at no charge or for a nominal charge.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of operations less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale, exchange or distribution.

Current replacement cost is the cost the entity incurs to 
acquire the asset on the reporting date.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted 
average cost formula. The same cost formula is used for all 
inventories having a similar nature and use to the entity.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those 
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period 

in which the related revenue is recognised. If there is no 
related revenue, the expenses are recognised when the 
goods are distributed, or related services are rendered. 
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net 
realisable value or current replacement cost and all losses 
of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period 
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal 
of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase 
in net realisable value or current replacement cost, are 
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
reversal occurs.

1.11 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those 
payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, 
such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and  
non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are 
recognised in the period in which the service is rendered 
and are not discounted.

The expected cost of performance bonus payments 
is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result 
of past performance.

Accruals for leave pay and performance bonuses are 
recognised as a liability in the financial statements, after 
deducting any amount already paid

1.12  Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past 
event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential will be 
required to settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where the effect of time value of money is material, 
the amount of a provision is the present value of the 



Municipal Demarcation Board  Annual Report 2014/1574

expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions 
are reversed if it is no longer probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits or service 
potential will be required, to settle the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a 
provision increases in each period to reflect the passage 
of time. This increase is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the 
provision was originally recognised.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 22.

Commitments represents orders that have been 
approved, but where no delivery has not taken place as at 
year end, and contractual commitments.

Commitments are not recognised as liabilities or assets in 
the Statement of Financial Position but are included in the 
disclosure notes.

1.13  Revenue from exchange transactions

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity 
receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and directly gives approximately equal value to another 
entity in exchange.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all 
the following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the 

significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to 
the  entity; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest, royalties and dividends

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets 
yielding interest, royalties and dividends is recognised 
when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to 
the  entity, and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the 
effective interest rate method.

1.14  Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Non-exchange transactions are defined as transactions 
where the Board receives value from another entity 
without directly giving approximately equal value in 
exchange.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to 
the extent that a liability is also recognised for the same 
inflow.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.
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1.15  Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been 
reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the 
current  year.

1.16  Fruitless and wasteful  expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made 
in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable 
care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement 
of financial performance in the year that the expenditure 
was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance 
with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is 
subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement 
of financial performance .

1.17  Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA 
is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, 
incurred in contravention of or that is not in accordance 
with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including-

(a) this Act; or

(b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), 
or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or

(c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement 
procedures in that provincial government.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified 
during the current financial and which was condoned 
before year end and/or before finalisation of the financial 

statements is recorded appropriately in the irregular 
expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action 
is also required with the exception of updating the note 
to the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified 
during the current financial year and for which 
condonement is being awaited at year end is recorded 
in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is 
required with the exception of updating the note to the 
financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous 
financial year and is only condoned in the following 
financial year, the register and the disclosure note to 
the financial statements is updated with the amount 
condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified 
during the current financial year and which was not 
condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant  
authority is recorded appropriately in the irregular 
expenditure register. If liability for the irregular  
expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt  
account is created if such a person is liable in law. 
Immediate steps are thereafter  taken to recover the 
amount from the person concerned. If recovery is not 
possible, the accounting officer or accounting authority 
may write off the amount as debt impairment and  
disclose such in the relevant note to the financial 
statements. The irregular expenditure register is also 
updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has 
not been condoned and no person is liable in law, the 
expenditure related thereto remains against the relevant 
programme/expenditure item, is disclosed as such 
in the note to the financial statements and updated  
accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.
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for the year ended 31 March 2015

NOTES TO THE  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1   Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory 
for the entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2015 or later periods:

Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date:
(Years beginning on or after)

GRAP 18: Segment Reporting 01 April 2015
GRAP 105: Transfers of functions between entities under common control 01 April 2015
GRAP 106: Transfers of functions between entities not under common control 01 April 2015
GRAP 107: Mergers 01 April 2015
GRAP 20: Related parties 01 April 2016
IGRAP 11: Consolidation – Special purpose entities 01 April 2015
IGRAP 12: Jointly controlled entities – Non-monetary contributions by ventures 01 April 2015
GRAP 6 (as revised 2010): Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 01 April 2015
GRAP108: Statutory Receivables 01 April 2016
DIRECTIVE 11: Changes in measurement bases following the initial adoption of Standards of GRAP 01 April 2016

The initial application of the statements and interpretations will not have an impact of the financial statements of the 
Board

3. INVENTORIES
2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Consumable stores 372 228

Opening balance 228 213

Additions for the year 346 126

Utilized for the year (202) (111)

372 228

4. RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Trade debtors 2 -

Employee costs in advance 17 1

Deposits 28 343

Interest income accrued 62 94

109 438

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 2 - 

Bank balances 99 70

Short-term deposits 16 994 27 163

17 095 27 233

There are no restrictions to cash held with banks.
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6.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2015 2014

COST / 
VALUATION

R’000

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 

AND 
ACCUMULATED 
IMPAIRMENT

R’000

CARRYING 
VALUE
R’000

COST / 
VALUATION

R’000

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 

AND 
ACCUMULATED 
IMPAIRMENT

R’000

CARRYING 
VALUE
R’000

Furniture and fixtures 1 942 (770) 1 172 1 461 (654) 807

Motor vehicles 562 (349) 213 562 (273) 289

Office equipment 1 021 (638) 383 1 198 (575) 623

IT equipment 1 580 (900) 680 1 449 (1 059) 390

Leasehold improvements 2 253 (330) 1 923 853 (581) 272

Total 7 358 (2 987) 4 371 5 523 (3 142) 2 381

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2015

OPENING 
BALANCE

R’000
ADDITIONS

R’000
DISPOSALS

R’000
DEPRECIATION

R’000
TOTAL
R’000

Furniture and fixtures 807 578 (55) (158) 1 172

Motor vehicles 289 - - (76) 213

Office equipment 623 24 (57) (207) 383

IT equipment 390 642 (20) (332) 680

Leasehold improvements 272 2 252 - (601) 1 923

2 381 3 496 (132) (1 374) 4 371

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2014

OPENING 
BALANCE

R’000
ADDITIONS

R’000
DISPOSALS

R’000
DEPRECIATION

R’000
TOTAL
R’000

Furniture and fixtures 948 - - (141) 807

Motor vehicles 367 - - (78) 289

Office equipment 819 33 (5) (224) 623

IT equipment 517 271 (62) (336) 390

Leasehold improvements 426 23 - (177) 272

3 077 327 (67) (956) 2 381
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7.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2015 2014

COST / 
VALUATION

R’000

ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION 

AND 
ACCUMULATED 
IMPAIRMENT

R’000

CARRYING 
VALUE
R’000

COST / 
VALUATION

R’000

ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION 

AND 
ACCUMULATED 
IMPAIRMENT

R’000

CARRYING 
VALUE
R’000

Computer software 1 668 (699) 969 1 541 (528) 1 013

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2015

OPENING 
BALANCE

R’000
ADDITIONS

R’000
DISPOSALS

R’000
AMORTISATION

R’000
TOTAL
R’000

Computer software 1 013 182 (32) (194) 969

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2014

OPENING 
BALANCE

R’000
ADDITIONS

R’000
DISPOSALS

R’000
AMORTISATION

R’000
TOTAL
R’000

Computer software 825 362 (9) (165) 1 013

8.  PAYABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Trade payables 1 910 2 398

Other payables 97 532

2 007 2 930

9.  PROVISIONS

Reconciliation of provisions -  2015

OPENING 
BALANCE

R’000
ADDITIONS

R’000

UTILISED 
DURING THE 

YEAR
R’000

REVERSED 
DURING THE 

YEAR
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

Legal proceedings    722 - (722) - - 

Leave pay 1 090 2 035 (1 632) - 1 493

Performance bonuses 870 551 (200) (670) 551

2 682 2 586 (2 554) (670) 2 044

Reconciliation of provisions -  2014

OPENING 
BALANCE

R’000
ADDITIONS

R’000

UTILISED 
DURING THE 

YEAR
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

Legal proceedings - 722 - 722

Leave pay 880 1 719 (1 509) 1 090

Performance bonuses 244 870 (244) 870

1 124 3 311 (1 753) 2 682
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10.  GOVERNMENT GRANTS
2015
R’000

2014
R’000

National Department of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs 44 230 42 152

Local Government SETA - 30

44 230 42 182

11.  REVENUE

Sale of goods 5 11

Other exchange revenue 34 25

Interest received - investment 903 912

Government grants & subsidies 44 230 42 182

45 172 43 130

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services are as follows:

Sale of goods 5 11

Other exchange revenue 34 25

Interest received - investment 903 912

942 948

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:

Transfer revenue
Government grants & subsidies 44 230 42 182

12.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS

Basic 12 347 10 323

Other non pensionable allowance 4 675 4 045

Temporary staff allowance 106 83

Leave payments 118 194

Overtime payments 107 142

Bonus (119) 930

Full time member's emoluments 1 145 1 132

UIF 67 59

SDL 193 161

Insurance cover 459 431

Travel, motor car, accommodation, subsistence and other allowances 500 270

Leave expenses 402 211

Other salary related costs 82 10

20 082 17 991

13.  AUDIT FEES

Audit Fees 1 075 923
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14.  DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Furniture and fixtures 158 140

Motor vehicles 76 77

Office equipment 207 224

IT equipment 331 336

Leasehold improvements 602 176

Computer software 193 165

1 567 1 118

15.  PROJECT EXPENSES

Consulting Fees 2 620 3 759

16.  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

License renewal 624 127

Travel and accommodation 4 451 3 538

Courier and delivery charges 218 35

Data acquisitions - 32

Consumables 22 19

Rental of building 3 667 2 311

Rental of plant, machinery and equipment 68 57

Repairs and maintenance 131 24

9 181 6 143

17.  ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Advertising 361 252

Bank charges 26 26

Legal fees 5 007 1 287

Insurance 190 254

Conferences and venues 719 2 022

Publications, notices and gazettes 296 2 806

Printing and Photocopying 807 439

Telephone and fax 716 400

Training - Employees 232 352

Stakeholder Relations Management 2 734 1 117

Security services 575 188

Internal audit fees 980 1 018

Members allowance 2 670 2 433

Stationery 216 200

Recruitment costs 127 2

Employee Assistance Programme 58 66

Bursaries - Employees 43 -

Other expenses 2 001 1 920

17 758 14 782
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18.  GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS
2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Proceeds from disposal assets 26 80

Net book value of assets (165) (76)

(139) 4

19.  INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest revenue

Bank 903 912

20.  CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Surplus/(Deficit) (7 252) (1 582)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 1 566 1 118

Gain/(Loss) on sale of assets 139 (4)

Movements in operating lease assets and accruals 437 (439)

Movements in provisions (638) 1 558

Changes in working capital:

Inventories (144) (15)

Receivables from exchange transactions 329 (7)

Payables from exchange transactions (922) 2 041

(6 485) 2 670

21.  COMMITMENTS

This committed expenditure relates to leased  property, capital expenditure  and other operational expenditure  will 
be financed by retained surpluses, existing cash resources, funds internally generated, etc.

21.1  Operating leases - the Board as lessee

Minimum lease payments due

within one year 3 425 3 101

in second to fifth year inclusive 13 344 15 640

later than five years - 1 129

16 769 19 870

The Board leases its office promises from a commercial property services provider for a period of 5 years, effective 
from 1 July 2014. Lease payments escalate by 8.90% annually and payable monthly in advance. The lease agreement 
is renewable for a further period by mutual agreement. Upon termination of the lease any improvements made to 
the  premises by the entity shall belong to the lessor.  No contingent rent is payable.
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21.  COMMITMENTS (continued)

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

21.2  Other commitments

Approved but not yet contracted - 7 997

Approved and contracted: Other operational expenditure 653 2 654

Approved and contracted:  Capital expenditure 232 2 698

Total future commitments 885 13 349

22.   CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 

23.  RELATED PARTIES

EXECUTIVE MEMBERS: 2015
EMOLUMENTS

R’000

OTHER 
BENEFITS*

R’000
TOTAL
R’000

Ms GC Gumbi-Masilela (CEO) (Term ended October 2014) 986 1 692 2 678

Mr DKN Ligege (CFO) (Acting CEO February 2014 - August 2014) 1 188 175 1 363

Ms MJJ Thupana (Appointed 20 February 2014) 1 145 - 1 145

Mr MH Manjezi (Acting CEO) (Appointed September 2014) - 845 845

3 319 2 712 6 031

* Other benefits comprise acting allowance.

Contingent liability - Midvaal high court application

During April 2014, the Midvaal Local Municipality 
instituted legal proceedings against the Board to 
set aside its decision to redetermine the municipal 
boundaries affecting the said municipality.  The matter 
relates to a redetermination of municipal boundaries 
of Emfuleni Local Municipality (GT421), Midvaal Local 
Municipality (GT422), Lesedi Local Municipality (GT423), 
Sedibeng District Municipality (DC42) and Ekurhuleni 
Metropolitan Municipality (EKU), by excluding Emfuleni 
Local Municipality (GT421) and Midvaal Local Municipality 
(GT422) from the municipal area of Sedibeng District 
Municipality (DC42), and by amalgamating them into a 
new single Category A Metropolitan Municipality, and 
excluding Lesedi Local Municipality (GT423) from the 
municipal area of Sedibeng District Municipality (DC42), 
and by including it into the municipal area of Ekurhuleni 
Metropolitan Municipality (EKU).

The information usually required by the applicable GRAP 
standards has not been disclosed on the grounds that it 
can be expected to prejudice seriously the outcome of 
the case.

Contingent liability - Baviaans high court application

The Board received proposals in terms of section 22 of 
the Municipal Demarcation Board Act, from the Minister 
of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs, to 
redetermine outer boundaries of certain municipalities.  
Subsequent thereto, the Baviaans Local Municipality 
(EC107) filed an application to interdict the Board from 
publishing the proposals in terms of section 26.

The financial effect of this litigation is estimated to  
be R1 000 000.
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23.  RELATED PARTIES (continued)

EXECUTIVE MEMBERS: 2014
EMOLUMENTS

R’000
TOTAL
R’000

Mr LJ Mahlangu (Chairperson) (Term ended 19 February 2014) 1 051 1 051
Ms GC Gumbi-Masilela (CEO) (Term ended October 2014) 1 600 1 600
Mr DKN Ligege (CFO) (Acting CEO February 2014 - August 2014) 1 181 1 181
Ms MJJ Thupana (Appointed 20 February 2014) 122 122

3 954 3 954

NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBERS: 2015

MEMBERS’ 
FEES
R’000

OTHER FEES 
(CELLPHONE 

ALLOWANCES)
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

Mr LD Tsotetsi (Re-appointed 20 February 2014) 394 6 400
Mr AM  Adam (Deputy Chairperson) (Re-appointed February 2014) 176 6 182
Mr SM  Radebe (Chairperson: Audit and Risk Committee)(Term ended July 2014) 141 - 141
Prof IE Konyn (Appointed 20 February 2014) 316 6 322
Mr MM Wildebees (Appointed 20 February 2014) 263 6 269
Mr S Dzengwa (Appointed 20 February 2014) 315 6 321
Ms SD Wiggins (Appointed 20 February 2014) 276 6 282
Ms NZH Mpofu (Appointed 20 February 2014) 313 6 319
Ms MM Mooki (Appointed 20 February 2014) 270 6 276
Dr MB Khoza (Resigned May 2014) 13 - 13
Mr D Coovadia (Chairperson: Audit and Risk Committee) 

                                     (Appointed September 2014) 145 - 145
2 622 48 2 670

 

NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBERS: 2014

MEMBERS’ 
FEES
R’000

OTHER FEES 
(CONSULTANCY 

FEES)
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

Ms N Gwayi (Deputy Chairperson) 533 - 533
Prof NC Steytler 52 - 52
Khosi TJ Ramovha 108 - 108
Mr LD Tsotetsi 362 - 362
Ms SGS Castle 4 - 4
Ms WL Ovens 207 - 207
Mr AM Adam 90 - 90
Mr SM  Radebe (Chairperson: Audit and Risk Committee) (Term ended July 2014) 707 286 993
Prof IE Konyn (Appointed 20 February 2014) 12 - 12
Mr MM Wildebees (Appointed 20 February 2014) 12 - 12
Mr S Dzengwa (Appointed 20 February 2014) 12 - 12
Ms SD Wiggins (Appointed 20 February 2014) 12 - 12
Ms NZH Mpofu (Appointed 20 February 2014) 12 - 12
Ms MM Mooki (Appointed 20 February 2014) 12 - 12
Dr MB Khoza (Resigned May 2014) 12 - 12

2 147 286 2 433
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23.  RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Remuneration of Board members is determined by the Minister of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs in 
consultation with the Minister of Finance.

Remuneration of management is determined by the Board.

Remuneration of independent member(s) of the Audit and Risk Committee is determined by the Board in accordance 
with Treasury Regulations 3.1.6, after taking into account tariffs determined by the South African Institute of Chartered 
Accountants and the Auditor General, where applicable.

24.  CHANGE IN ESTIMATES
2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Property, plant and equipment

Changes in the estimated useful lives of some items of property, plant and equipment has resulted in the following 
change in depreciation for the year:

Depreciation: PPE

• According to initial estimated useful life (38) (31)

• According to re-estimated useful life 13 50

(25) 19

25.  RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate 
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. Management regularly reviews the Board’s going concern.  This includes reviewing the effectiveness of 
working capital management and budgetary control.

The following table indicates the maturity analysis for financial liabilities showing the remaining earliest contractual 
maturities. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

2015

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

R’000

DUE WITHIN 1 
YEAR
R’000

DUE BETWEEN 1 
AND 5 YEARS

R’000

Payables from exchange transactions 2 007 2 007 -

2014

Payables from exchange transactions 2 930 2 930 -
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25.  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Interest rate risk

The Board is exposed to interest rate changes in respect of returns its investments with financial institutions. The 
Board’s exposure to interest rate risk is managed by investing, on a short term basis, in current accounts.

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. The 
entity only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any counter-party.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 17 095 27 233

Receivable from exchange transactions 109 438

26.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The Board is not aware of any matters that arose after the reporting date that requires adjustment to the financial 
statements or additional disclosure.

27.  FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

Opening balance 722 -

Add: fruitless and wasteful expenditure in the current year - 722

Less: Amounts written off (722) -

- 722

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure relates to out of court settlement reached between the institution and three 
candidates who were offered employment.

28.  IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

Opening balance 121 -

Add: Irregular Expenditure - current year 3 052 -

Add: Irregular Expenditure - Previous year - 121

Less: Amounts condoned (121) -

3 052 121
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28.  IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE (continued)

DETAILS OF IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE – CURRENT  YEAR
DISCIPLINARY STEPS TAKEN/ 

CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS

Amount
R’000

Contracts were extended, and the extended portion 
exceeded 15%. The Board did not request written 
approval from National Treasury as per Instruction Note 
32 for the extentions which exceed 15%.

Under investigation 1 508

The Board incurred expenditure amounting to R1 839 of 
which the prescribed procurement processes was not 
followed.

Under investigation 1 544

3 052

DETAILS OF IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE CONDONED
CONDONED BY  

(CONDONING AUTHORITY)

Amount
R’000

In 2013/14, the Board incurred expenditure amounting 
to R121 125, without obtaining three quotations, reasons 
for deviating from the supply chain processes and 
regulations were not documented and approved by the 
accounting officer. The contractor satisfied contractual 
obligations, and as a result, there was no loss to the 
Board.

Board 121

29.  RECONCILIATION BETWEEN BUDGET AND STATEMENT  OF 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Reconciliation of budget surplus/deficit with the surplus/deficit in the statement of financial performance:

Net deficit per the statement of financial performance (7 252) (1 582)

Adjusted for:

Gain (loss) on the sale of assets 139 (4)

Depreciation and amortisation 1 567 1 118

Transfer from Retained income 3 311 2 352

Net (deficit) surplus per approved budget (2 235) 1 884
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PART H

OUR TEAM
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OFFICE OF THE CHAIRPERSON

BONGIWE BALOYI
PERSONAL ASSISTANT:  

OFFICE OF THE CHAIRPERSON

LIGHTY MALATJI
ADMINISTRATION INTERN:  

OFFICE OF THE CHAIRPERSON

OFFICE OF THE CEo

ALUWANI RAMAGADZA
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

ANDILE MHLONGO
ADMINISTRATION ASSISTANT:  

OFFICE OF THE CEO

JANE THUPANA
CHAIRPERSON

CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION
LEGAL & SECRETARIAT

MASESI KOTO
HEAD: LEGAL & SECRETARIAT

DAVID RAMBAU
ASSISTANT: LEGAL SECRETARIAT

ALVINAH MUDAU
LEGAL & SECRETARIAT INTERN
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NALINI ZOLLER
HEAD: HUMAN RESOURCES  

& ADMINISTRATION

VANIE NAIDOO
ADMINISTRATION OFFICER

KARL KONAR
HUMAN RESOURCES SPECIALIST

TIISETSO MASHAMAITE
HUMAN RESOURCES INTERN

SALVATION MAKGASANE
JUNIOR ADMINISTRATION OFFICER

PAUL FOURIE
DOCUMENT CONTROLLER

GODFREY MALULEKA
AUXILIARY SERVICES OFFICER

MAGGIE SOMANJE
DOCUMENT CONTROLLER

HENRIETTE WEESEMAN
HEAD: STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT  

& COMMUNICATIONS

BULELWA MBALI-KHOELE
STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT &  
MEDIA RELATIONS SPECIALIST

STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT & COMMUNICATION UNIT

ZEONE ADAMS
RECEPTIONIST

HUMAN RESOURCES & ADMINISTRATION

CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION (continued)
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DETERMINATIONS & DELIMITATIONS UNIT

OPERATIONS & RESEARCH DIVISION

TEBOGO MAZWI
ADMINISTRATION ASSISTANT

OFFICE OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGER

FAZEL HOOSEN
ACTING EXECUTIVE MANAGER:  
OPERATIONS AND RESEARCH

THABISO PLANK
DETERMINATIONS &  

DELIMITATIONS SPECIALIST

AYANDA MONKHE
DETERMINATIONS &  

DELIMITATIONS SPECIALIST

KAMAL KHADUA
DETERMINATIONS &  

DELIMITATIONS SPECIALIST

TSHIFHIWA NETHANANI
DETERMINATIONS  &  

DELIMITATIONS INTERN

ROFHIWA RAEDANI
DETERMINATIONS &  

DELIMITATIONS INTERN

NANGOMSO JACOBS
DETERMINATIONS &  

DELIMITATIONS TRAINEE

FAZEL HOOSEN
HEAD:  DETERMINATIONS & DELIMITATIONS  

EXECUTIVE MANAGER
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OPERATIONS & RESEARCH DIVISION (continued)

DANIEL SEBAKE
HEAD:  

GIS & DATABASE MANAGEMENT

MTHOBISI MANZINI
GIS SPECIALIST

HESTER MARAIS
GIS SPECIALIST

LIZ MAZIBUKO
GIS SPECIALIST

NAOMI RAMOKGOPA
GIS INTERN

SMISO DLAMINI
GIS INTERN

GIS & DATABASE MANAGEMENT UNIT

RESEARCH AND KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT UNIT 

PROF DARRELL MYRICK
HEAD: OPERATIONS & RESEARCH
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MATANKISO MAHLANGU
ACTING CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

MANDY MASANGO
SUPPLY CHAIN OFFICER

DUMSANI KHOZA
FINANCE OFFICER

MAUREEN RAMATLAPENG
FINANCE OFFICER:  

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

FINANCE DIVISION

MTETELELI GQALANE
SENIOR SUPPLY CHAIN OFFICER

NAOME KALAMANE
SUPPLY CHAIN INTERN

JONATHAN ROBSON
SENIOR IT SPECIALIST

SHANDU MATHIVHA
JUNIOR WEB DEVELOPER

PIKKIE SAUNDERS 
ADMINISTRATION OFFICER
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NOTES
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